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          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Good morning.

          3  Sorry for the late start.  But, we promise to do fun

          4  things today, so it was worth the wait.  Good

          5  morning.  I'm Council Member Jim Gennaro. I'm Chair

          6  of the New York City Council Committee on

          7  Environmental Protection.  I would like to welcome

          8  all of you to today's Hearing.  The first Hearing of

          9  this Committee in the new Council session.

         10                 Today, the Committee will hold an

         11  Oversight Hearing to take a look at the City's

         12  underground storage tank, or u- s- t, or UST, or

         13  however you may pronounce it, systems, including the

         14  recent federal consent order regarding these

         15  systems.  The USEPA, who has joined us here today,

         16  defines an UST to be "a tank and any underground

         17  piping connected to the tank that has at least ten

         18  percent of its combined volume underground."  In

         19  response to the increasing threat to ground water

         20  posed by leaking USTs, Congress, in 1984, added

         21  Subtitle One to what we in the business call RCRA,

         22  r- c- r- a, the Resource Conservation and Recovery

         23  Act.  This amendment to RCRA required EPA to develop

         24  a comprehensive regulatory program for USTs that

         25  store petroleum or other certain hazardous
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          2  substances.

          3                 One of the UST provision -- I kind of

          4  go back and forth between UST and u- s- t, I'm

          5  seeing which one I like better, I'll let you know at

          6  the end of the statement.  One of the UST provisions

          7  included in RCRA require that all substandard

          8  underground storage tanks, now I'm saying the whole

          9  thing, so you don't know where I'm going with this

         10   -- that all substandard underground storage tanks,

         11  including those owned or operated by the City of New

         12  York, be upgraded to meet federal performance

         13  standards by December 1998.

         14                 Those of us who have been following

         15  this issue for a long time may remember that in

         16  1988, the EPA set out a series of, you know,

         17  deadlines starting that as of December 22, 1988,

         18  whatever it is, any tank put in the ground as of

         19  that date had to meet all of the, you know, new

         20  specifications.  For the tanks that were in the

         21  ground before December 22, 1988, had to meet a

         22  series of requirements over the next ten years, with

         23  a final deadline being exactly ten years forward,

         24  which was December 22, 1998, at which time all

         25  owners and operators of underground storage tanks
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          2  had to have all of their old non- compliant tanks

          3  out of the ground or have the old tanks upgraded

          4  some way to meet all of the new standards.  That's

          5  my, you know, basic, sort of layman's sense of what

          6  was laid out there.

          7                 So, back to my statement, of course,

          8  people are concerned about underground storage tanks

          9  because of the impacts on drinking water supplies.

         10  However, New York City, with the exception of about

         11  300,000 residents in Queens, New York City residents

         12  receive their water from reservoirs located in

         13  Upstate New York.  But, of course, that doesn't mean

         14  that people tolerate pollution in our ground.

         15  Nevertheless, linking USTs pose risk of significant

         16  adverse environmental public health impacts through

         17  soil and water contamination, as well as risk to

         18  public safety through fires, explosions and other

         19  problems.

         20                 In December of 2002, the U.S. Filed a

         21  complaint in the United States District Court,

         22  Southern District of New York, alleging that New

         23  York City had violated the underground storage tank

         24  provisions of RCRA.  According to the EPA, the City

         25  of New York currently owns at least 1,600
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          2  underground storage tanks in at least 400 locations

          3  throughout the New York City metropolitan area,

          4  including all five boroughs.  The tanks are operated

          5  by at least 16 agencies or departments of the City.

          6                 Last month, the U.S. Attorney for the

          7  Southern District of New York and EPA Region Two,

          8  made an announcement that the U.S. Had settled the

          9  environmental lawsuit against New York City

         10  involving the City's underground storage tank

         11  systems. Recognizing that leaking underground

         12  storage tanks, or USTs, or u- s- ts, can represent

         13  substantial environmental health and public safety

         14  risks, it's important that the City of New York, as

         15  well as federal and state agencies, with oversight

         16  responsibility, make sure that City- owned

         17  underground storage tanks are managed effectively

         18  and in accordance with regulatory requirements.

         19                 Today, we hope to learn more about

         20  the City's underground storage tank systems,

         21  including the recent federal consent decree

         22  regarding these systems.  We have some, you know,

         23  legislation under contemplation with regard to

         24  underground storage tank systems and one of the

         25  purposes for this Hearing is to make a determination

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  in light of recent events, you know, whether or not

          3  that that bill will be advanced or will be changed.

          4  So, that's part of the purpose for today's Hearing.

          5                 Before I get into recognizing some of

          6  the Council Members and staff, let's just go back in

          7  time, just a little bit, to when I was a staff

          8  member here at the Council.  I was the analyst for

          9  the Committee.  We had two Hearings on this matter,

         10  February 26, 1999 and March 19, 1999, and the thrust

         11  of the first Hearing in February of 1999, again,

         12  that was only two months after the December 22, 1998

         13  deadline, by which the City was supposed to have had

         14  to have remediated all of their, was supposed to

         15  have taken all of their tanks out of the ground and

         16  come into compliance with this 1998 deadline.  That

         17  was an Oversight Hearing to see whether or not that

         18  ever actually happened.

         19                 What we learned at that Hearing, we

         20  learned of a consent order that had existed between

         21  the State DEC and the City going back to, I believe,

         22  1994, because as the City, starting in 1988 and

         23  going further in an attempt to meet that 1998

         24  deadline, started to take these tanks out of the

         25  ground.  Of course, they found product in the ground
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          2  and all kinds of other nonsense and, of course, when

          3  you find free product, you have to notify the

          4  appropriate regulator, which would be DEC.  And, all

          5  of these leaking tanks that had been discovered were

          6  the subject of a consent order between the City and

          7  the state.

          8                 We also learned at that Hearing that

          9  there seemed to be, sort of, two categories of tanks

         10  that were owned by the City of New York.  For a lack

         11  of a better way to describe them, there was kind of

         12  like their front line tanks that were active every

         13  day, that were used to fuel fire trucks and

         14  sanitation trucks that were constantly having fuel

         15  put into them and fuel taken out of them.  They were

         16  the tanks that they used on a day to- day basis.

         17                 Their other tanks, the other category

         18  of tanks, again, for lack of a better way to

         19  describe them, would be like their reserve tanks

         20  that don't get a lot of activity, but just hold

         21  product on an ongoing basis.  Like, for example, the

         22  kind of tank that would hold diesel fuel for a

         23  backup diesel generator that might exist at a police

         24  precinct or firehouse, or whatever. This is not a

         25  tank that gets used a lot.  We don't have power
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          2  outages very much, but they're there for

          3  emergencies.

          4                 We learned at that Hearing, that this

          5  sort of front line of tanks were the ones that the

          6  City really made an effort to comply with the 1998

          7  deadline to get those tanks out of the ground and

          8  the reserve tanks, as of 1999, had really not been

          9  addressed.  So, because it seemed like such a juicy

         10  topic, we held a follow- up Hearing three weeks

         11  later on March 19th, because we wanted to find out

         12  more about this consent order that existed between

         13  the state and the City and what the total price tag

         14  for the cleanup would be.

         15                 We actually got the Department of

         16  Environmental Conservation from New York State to

         17  come to one of our Hearings, no small miracle in

         18  making that happen, and the questions which they had

         19  in advance, and certainly didn't want to answer and

         20  didn't answer in any detail at the Hearing, was

         21  that, okay, not only is the City of New York taking

         22  tanks out of the ground and trying to comply with

         23  the 1998 deadline, but other private operators and

         24  other governmental bodies are doing the same thing.

         25                 So, you know, how many sort of
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          2  private sector tanks had spills, which the DEC

          3  presumably was monitoring, how many public sector

          4  tanks, including New York City, New York State, or

          5  federal whatever, and how many of those spills were,

          6  at least, known of, how many had been fully scoped

          7  or investigated, how many had advanced to the point

          8  that they were currently being remediated or cleaned

          9  up, and how many were absolutely done.  Of course,

         10  DEC had absolutely no answer.

         11                 The City of New York testified at

         12  that Hearing and we wanted to know from them pretty

         13  much the same question, when the City of New York

         14  was going to do sort of that second category of

         15  tanks that as of 1999 hadn't been done yet, and what

         16  was the status of the Consent Order from 1994 that

         17  existed between the City and the state and, again,

         18  how many of those spills were known and had some

         19  kind of investigation done, how many had advanced to

         20  being remediated or at least started to be

         21  remediated and how many were done.  You know, DDC,

         22  not withstanding the fact that they were nicer than

         23  DEC, didn't really have a lot to say either.

         24                 So, that brings us to today.  It's

         25  kind of a long opening statement.  But, so, again, a
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          2  little bit of the history from the past and, but one

          3  of the things that I do want to follow- up on is,

          4  you know, whatever became of those second fleet of

          5  tanks and maybe these are the subject of the consent

          6  order that exists between the feds and the state

          7  that was just settled, the feds and the City that

          8  was just settled.

          9                 So, we look forward to a very

         10  productive Hearing, where we will learn all about

         11  the status of these tanks and also give us some

         12  insight as to where we may be going in the

         13  Committee, legislatively, to speak to some of these

         14  very important issues.  Sorry for the detailed and

         15  confusing opening statement, but this is a detailed

         16  and confusing subject that doesn't get a lot of

         17  daylight, but we think it's appropriate to make sure

         18  it does get daylight and that's what this Committee

         19  is for.

         20                 Okay, so, before I call today's first

         21  witness, I would like to acknowledge and welcome

         22  some of the new and returning Members of the

         23  Committee.  We have Council Member Oliver Koppell

         24  from the Bronx, who has served on this Committee

         25  previously; Council Member Tom White from Queens, a
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          2  new Member of the Committee, but not a new Council

          3  Member, he served the Council with distinction up

          4  until, I guess 2001, and now is back on the Council

          5  and we're certainly happy to have him on the Council

          6  and happy to have him on the Committee; Peter

          7  Vallone, Junior either is here or was here, okay,

          8  Peter is a returning Member of the Committee and

          9  we're happy to have him back with us; we have

         10  Council Member Melissa Mark Viverito, a new Council

         11  Member and a new Member of this Committee, we're

         12  certainly glad and grateful to have her on the

         13  Committee; and to my immediate left, Council Member

         14  Ken Stewart, not a new Council Member, but new to

         15  this Committee, and welcome.  Welcome all of the new

         16  Members to the Committee.

         17                 I would also like to point out that

         18  even though it doesn't relate to the topic today, we

         19  have for all of the Members of the Committee, new

         20  Members and also Members that are returning, a very

         21  handy information packet that talks about some of

         22  the work that this Committee has done in the past.

         23  The Counsel to the Committee, Donna DeCostanzo, is

         24  handing them out now.  I trust that you will find

         25  them helpful.  I talk about the Committee's
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          2  procedures and jurisdiction, the major

          3  accomplishments over the past two legislative

          4  sessions, which we, at the Council, are quite proud

          5  of, all of the Hearings we've held over that period,

          6  and the staff of the Committee.

          7                 Speaking of the staff of the

          8  Committee, we're joined by the Counsel to the

          9  Committee, Donna DeCostanzo, who returns and

         10  continues her good service to the Committee, Richard

         11  Colon, who has my old job as the Analyst for the

         12  Committee.  They provide a great backbone for the

         13  Committee.  We're glad to have them stay on.  We

         14  also have Veronica McNeil, is here, one of the

         15  Finance Analysts for the Committee.  We're coming

         16  into budget season, so she will provide us with

         17  great service, and Sarah Mikutel, from our press

         18  office.  We're happy to have Sarah as part of the

         19  team as well.

         20                 We have a member of our team who is

         21  going to be sort of moving on from our cozy little

         22  world here, Chris Manning of the Mayor's Office, who

         23  helps to make these Hearings, I was going to say

         24  popular, I was going to say possible, but popular

         25  came out, because when you think of Chris, you think
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          2  of popular and we have the camera man, so wave hi to

          3  your mom or, you know, whatever you want to do.  So,

          4  Chris is moving on to the, to have some real big job

          5  with the Health Department in New York City. So,

          6  this Committee's loss is Tom Frieden's gain and we

          7  wish Chris well.  Have I thoroughly embarrassed you

          8  enough or, is that enough?  Okay, great.  Thank you,

          9  thank you Chris.

         10                 So, without further adieu, we're

         11  actually going to get around to doing some business

         12  here.  So, we call our two distinguished witnesses

         13  from the EPA, Doug McKenna and David Bernstein to

         14  take their place at the panel.  I also would like to

         15  recognize Berry Shore, who works in their

         16  intergovernmental office, who has been a great

         17  friend for at least --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr. Chairman

         19   --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Four years.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- As a

         22  witnesses take their positions --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- Not to

         25  delay matters, I want to just express my pleasure of
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          2  being on the Committee again and thank you for your

          3  leadership over the last four years and congratulate

          4  you on what has been accomplished as I look through

          5  the list and look forward to working with you in

          6  this new session.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          8  thank you Oliver. Oliver is one of our, you know,

          9  inspirations here.  He has served for many, many

         10  years as Chairman of the Committee on Environmental

         11  Conservation for the New York City Assembly and his

         12  accomplishments during his tenure as Chairman are

         13  legend, as we say.  So, we're grateful to have him

         14  here.  You bet.  So, thank you for being here to

         15  share some of your insights with us.  The Counsel to

         16  the Committee, Donna -- oh, I forgot to recognize

         17  the, oh my God, my own excellent Chief of Staff, you

         18  know, Peter Washburn, who is a great

         19  environmentalist in his own right, who really adds

         20  so much to the Committee and, in addition to his

         21  Chief of Staff duties, finds probably 40 hours a

         22  week just to do Committee- related work and we're

         23  very grateful to him for his great service to the

         24  City and to this Committee and to me.  So, Donna

         25  DeCostanzo will give the oath, after which you can
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          2  state your names for the record and proceed with

          3  your good testimony. Thanks for being here.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          5  your right hand, in the testimony that you're about

          6  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

          7  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MR. MCKENNA:  I do.

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I do.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         11                 MR. MCKENNA:  Good morning Chairman

         12  Gennaro and Members of the Committee.  My name is

         13  Douglass McKenna.  I am the Chief of the Water

         14  Compliance Branch of the United States Environmental

         15  Protection Agency, Region Two.  I am pleased to have

         16  this opportunity to provide you with information on

         17  the federal underground storage tank -- and for the

         18  record, I say it probably three ways over the course

         19  of this presentation as well -- or u- s- t program

         20  or UST program.  With me today, I have David

         21  Bernstein, an Environmental Scientist with the

         22  Groundwater Compliance Section and Berry Shore, our

         23  State and Local Governmental Contact.

         24                 Your initial opening remarks covered

         25  a great deal of the background of the underground
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          2  storage tank program that I was going to cover.  So,

          3  I'll do my best throughout this testimony to try and

          4  limit the repetitive nature, but there may be --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

          6                 MR. MCKENNA:  -- Some things that

          7  I'll talk about again.

          8                 Seven years ago, as you expressed,

          9  the Region was before this Committee on the same

         10  issue.  At that time, we opened with a brief review

         11  of the UST program and, like I said, we'll do it for

         12  the benefit of some of the Members that are new,

         13  we'll do it again here, to update changes that have

         14  happened since 1999. Until the mid- 1980's, most

         15  USTs, which store petroleum and hazardous substances

         16  were made of bare steel, which corroded over time,

         17  leading to the releases of contaminants into the

         18  environment.  Currently, improper installation or

         19  inadequate operation and maintenance procedures can

         20  also cause releases. The greatest potential hazard

         21  from leaking underground storage tanks is

         22  contamination of ground water, which is a source of

         23  drinking water for nearly half the Americans, of all

         24  Americans. Leaking underground storage tanks can

         25  also contaminate subterranean areas, presenting

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  other health and environmental risks, including the

          3  potential for fire and explosion.

          4                 In 1984, Congress responded to the

          5  dangers posed by leaking USTs by adding Subtitle I

          6  to the Resource Conservation Recovery Act.  Subtitle

          7  I required, as you've explained, EPA to develop a

          8  regulatory program for USTs storing petroleum or

          9  hazardous substances.  Please note that heating oil

         10  USTs for on site consumption are not regulated by

         11  the Federal Government, no matter what size they

         12  are.

         13                 In 1986, Congress amended Subtitle I

         14  and created the Leaking Underground Storage Tank

         15  Trust Fund, LUST or l- u- s- t, which is to be used

         16  to oversee the actual cleanups of, by responsible

         17  parties and to pay for some of the cleanups.  In

         18  1988, EPA issued the regulations which you went over

         19  in fairly good detail, and it required the

         20  significant requirement of it, as we discussed, was

         21  the upgrading of existing tanks by the December 1998

         22  deadline.

         23                 I should also mention that since the

         24  inception of the UST program, EPA has been sensitive

         25  to the needs for balancing our environmental goals
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          2  with concerns about unduly impacting the regulated

          3  community.  That's the basis for the ten year

          4  compliance period, to achieve compliance.  EPA also

          5  recognized that because of the size and diversity of

          6  the regulated community, state and local governments

          7  were in the best position to oversee underground

          8  storage tanks.  State underground storage tank

          9  programs, approved by EPA, can operate in lieu of

         10  the Federal Government.  To be approved, states must

         11  have equal or more stringent regulations than the

         12  federal requirements, and once a state program

         13  becomes approved, its regulations are federally

         14  enforceable.

         15                 EPA's basic strategy is for the

         16  states to implement as much of the underground

         17  storage tank program as possible.  In the long term,

         18  EPA's resources will have the greatest impact when

         19  used to foster State implementation rather than

         20  conducting federal programs in each state.  To

         21  implement this strategy, EPA and the New York State

         22  DEC are leveraging their respective resources and

         23  have set forth roles and responsibilities to

         24  implement the state and federal UST programs. In New

         25  York State, some of the responsibilities DEC is
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          2  responsible for included, include handling UST

          3  registrations and notifications, responding to

          4  releases and conducting corrective action oversight

          5  activities, DEC also conducted enforcement

          6  activities for areas where the state has

          7  jurisdiction.  DEC refers cases to EPA for

          8  enforcement action for all federal UST violations

          9  that are not covered by New York State Law.

         10                 New York State DEC and EPA work

         11  together in many issues, such as remediation

         12  technologies, expedited enforcement methods and

         13  regulated community outreach.  EPA has worked with

         14  local government entities such as New York City Fire

         15  Department to conduct outreach to assist UST owners

         16  in complying with regulations.  EPA has also worked

         17  with the New York City Fire Department to help

         18  develop new, new fire department UST regulations.

         19                 EPA has conducted a number of

         20  enforcement cases in New York City.  On December 12,

         21  2002, as you've explained, we did file a suit

         22  against the City of New York, in the, the United

         23  States filed a suit against New York in the U.S.

         24  District Court, alleging violations of the

         25  underground storage tank provision of RCRA.
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          2  Currently, the United States and New York City have

          3  entered into a proposed settlement that would

          4  resolve the civil litigation regarding USTs.  Under

          5  the settlement, the City would pay a civil penalty

          6  of $1.3 million and it would bring all of its

          7  underground storage tank systems into compliance

          8  with federal regulations.  More information can be

          9  found at EPA's website and in the testimony, it's

         10  listed there.

         11                 Other enforcement cases in New York

         12  City have included civil actions against the Route

         13  109 Service Station Corp., Gaseteria, Northland and

         14  1833 Nostrand Avenue Corporation. EPA has also

         15  conducted over 100 inspections and numerous

         16  enforcement actions against smaller owner/operators

         17  in the New York City metropolitan area.  These

         18  inspections have been focused on the Queens aquifer

         19  area and on follow- up referrals from the New York

         20  City Fire Department and/or the New York State

         21  Department of Environmental Conservation.

         22                 EPA estimates that the overall

         23  compliance rate in New York State with the 1998

         24  upgrade requirements is about 83 percent and the

         25  overall compliance rate for release detection is 76
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          2  percent.  Given that there are facilities that are

          3  still not in full compliance, EPA will continue to

          4  assist UST owners and operators by providing

          5  compliance assistance information, and will continue

          6  to conduct inspections and take appropriate

          7  enforcement action.

          8                 Let me, let me assure you that EPA

          9  will continue to work in good faith with the City

         10  and New York State DEC to protect human health and

         11  the environment.  Thank you, once again, for this

         12  opportunity to testify before the Committee and we

         13  welcome any questions you may have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         15  Thank you Mr. McKenna.  Thank you for being here and

         16  this Committee loves the EPA.  Matter of fact, Donna

         17  used to work for the EPA, Peter Washburn used to

         18  work for the EPA, so we've got a whole EPA thing

         19  going here.  We greatly appreciate the EPA's

         20  involvement, going back to the  '80's on this issue.

         21  Without those federal guidelines for the, you know,

         22  tank upgrade and replacement, those bare steel tanks

         23  would still be leaking today and it's through EPA's

         24  efforts that most states, a lot of states, although

         25  not this one, have, you know, fully adopted the
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          2  federal UST program to sort of be their own -- I'm

          3  going to ask about that in a little bit.  Also, of

          4  course, we're very grateful for the work that this

          5  Committee and the City has been able to do, with the

          6  EPA, of course, on our, you know, protection of our

          7  Upstate water supplies and avoidance determination

          8  and it's just been a wonderful relationship and if

          9  only our relationship with DEC were so good. I

         10  digress.

         11                 With regard to part of your

         12  statement, you talk about the, in your statement you

         13  indicate that state and local governments are in the

         14  best position to oversee underground storage tank

         15  programs and that state UST programs approved by EPA

         16  can operate in lieu of the federal program, and to

         17  be approved, these are your words, states must have

         18  equal or more stringent regulations than the federal

         19  government, and once the state program becomes

         20  approved, its regulations are federally enforceable.

         21    It seems that New York State has not fully done

         22  this.  Is that the case?

         23                 MR. MCKENNA:  They do not  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What's that?

         25                 MR. MCKENNA:  They do not have an
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          2  approved program.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  They do not

          4  have an approved program.  So, hence, this

          5  partnership between EPA and the state on, okay,

          6  we'll sort of divide up the work and the state will

          7  do certain things and the federal government will

          8  try to do others. How many states currently have

          9  approved programs that they've adopted or like

         10  whatever the appropriate word is.  The --

         11                 MR. MCKENNA:  I could speak for this

         12  region --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         14                 MR. MCKENNA:  -- And maybe David can

         15  fill in for the rest of the country if we know that.

         16    If not, we can get back to you.  In this region,

         17  our region consists of New York, New Jersey, the

         18  Virgin Island and Puerto Rico.  Only Puerto Rico has

         19  state approval to implement the full UST program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.  New

         21  Jersey is --

         22                 MR. MCKENNA:  New Jersey does not --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Like us.

         24                 MR. MCKENNA:  New Jersey is like New

         25  York.

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.  Mr.

          3  Bernstein, do you have any insight on the rest of

          4  the country and --

          5                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I think we have about

          6   --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I don't think

          8  your microphone is on.  Yeah.  Press the button,

          9  Nick.  We can hear you, but it won't be put into the

         10  record.  Okay.

         11                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         13                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I want you to

         15  just state your name for the record before you

         16  testify.

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  David Bernstein.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         19                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I think there's about

         20  35 or 36 programs that are fully delegated in the

         21  country.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         23                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Region One, the

         24  closest region to us in the northeast, which is, you

         25  know, Massachusetts, Connecticut.  I understand all
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          2  of those states are actually delegated.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  It's

          4  just, you know, good to know that we're still sort

          5  of cobbling together in some sort of, in a way to

          6  regulate our tanks.  So, this is of interest to the

          7  Committee.  Now, the federal government naturally

          8  wouldn't have legions of inspectors to go around,

          9  because this really is a state and local

         10  responsibility.  What is the nature of the

         11  interaction that you and your folks would have when

         12  they come -- what are the responsibilities again

         13  that the EPA does with regard to monitoring the

         14  tanks and what does DEC do?

         15                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Well, it's a shared

         16  responsibility.  DEC does have more inspectors than

         17  EPA does. So, what we basically do in New York State

         18  is, New York State DEC sends out inspectors across

         19  the state.  If they come across federal violations

         20  that they can't enforce against because their

         21  regulations are inadequate, they'll send a referral

         22  to EPA.  EPA will take that referral, will send out

         23  a federal inspector and inspect that facility and

         24  deal with the violation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What would be
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          2  an example of a federal violation or problem or

          3  whatever?

          4                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay, the state may

          5  inspect a facility that did not upgrade its tanks.

          6  Most, you know, famous of the violations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.

          8                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  They don't have any

          9  regulations that cover upgrade.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see, because

         11  they haven't adopted the whole thing.

         12                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That's correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, it's really

         14  left to be a federal responsibility to -- and so, I

         15  know that you can't speak for the state and I

         16  probably shouldn't be speaking for them either, but

         17  I guess their approach for lack of a better way to

         18  describe it, is that sounds like a wonderful thing,

         19  we want to upgrade all these tanks, we want to get

         20  these leaking bare steel tanks out of the ground,

         21  you know, but we're not going to be in charge of

         22  enforcing that.  So, it will be a federal thing.

         23  But, if we see it, we will let you know.

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And this is
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          2  what the DEC has done.  Now, also, one of the gaps,

          3  as I understand it, between the current state tank

          4  monitoring program and the federal program is that

          5  the state program, and correct me if I'm wrong if

          6  you know the correct answer, would be that the state

          7  program picks up with tanks that are 1,100 gallons

          8  or more and the federal program goes down to tanks

          9  or a sight that has 110 gallons or more.  Is that,

         10  am I close here?

         11                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  You're pretty close.

         12  What actually happens is the federal government

         13  regulates any underground storage tank 110 gallons

         14  or larger.  The state regulates facilities, not

         15  specific tanks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  So, if a facility has

         18  1,100 gallons or more, they're regulated by the

         19  state.  So, they could have four 550 gallon tanks at

         20  a facility and I believe the state would regulate

         21  that.  But, if --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  All the tanks

         23  in that facility?

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Right, because they

         25  work on a facility basis, is my understanding as
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          2  well.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, I see.

          4                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  If there's one 550,

          5  the state has no authority.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.  So,

          7  actually, there would be some universe of tanks and

          8  facilities that would not be covered by the state

          9  because the entire facility doesn't have a total of

         10  1,100 gallons on site.

         11                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And that would

         13  be an area where the federal government would have

         14  authority and the state would not.  But, the state,

         15  presumably, because they don't deal with these

         16  facilities, wouldn't be going to these facilities

         17  because they have no jurisdiction or authority to do

         18  that.

         19                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  You're talking about

         20  an unusual subset of facilities that --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         22                 MR. BERNSTEIN: -- Aren't even

         23  required to register with the New York State DEC.

         24  So, they've kind of fallen through the cracks over

         25  the years.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          3                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  So, we do find them

          4  on occasion.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          6                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  We'll look --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Are we talking

          8  about like a large universe of facilities that are

          9  in that, in that, sort of, you know, greater than

         10  110, lower than 1,100?

         11                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  It's larger than I'd

         12  like.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         14                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  It's hard to give

         15  exact numbers because we don't know how many are

         16  there --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         18                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  -- But, commonly,

         19  you'll get, you know, a service facility in New York

         20  City that just does repair work, but they've got one

         21  550 waste oil tank --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         23                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  -- So they are not

         24  regulated by the, you know, New York State DEC,

         25  they've never been registered and we'll find them
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          2  occasionally by accident.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          4                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Occasionally, we'll

          5  actually just go out and look for facilities that

          6  look like they might have a tank and do sweeps of,

          7  you know, say Queens Boulevard or Northern

          8  Boulevard, looking for repair facilities that may

          9  fall into this category.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Now does it,

         11  but it would be fair to say, because you're a

         12  federal agency, that, which in a perfect world would

         13  be giving guidance to the state, who would fully

         14  adopt your program, as the majority of states have

         15  done. You probably would not have the person power

         16  in terms of inspectors to routinely go to these

         17  places.  That's not your fault, it's because this

         18  is, you know, federal inspectors, you don't have

         19  legions of inspectors, this is more sort of like a

         20  local and state responsibility.  So, how many

         21  inspection personnel would be at the disposal of EPA

         22  Region Two to do inspections in all of New York

         23  State, New Jersey, Virgin Islands and Puerto Rico?

         24                 MR. MCKENNA:  It's about, it's about

         25  five inspectors.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Five

          3  inspectors.  So, right, so there we have it.

          4  However, I think that, you know, EPA has long made

          5  the point that in a perfect world we have an

          6  involved, engaged state environmental agency that

          7  will fully adopt a state program, which would be

          8  federally enforceable and, you know, in those states

          9  where that just hasn't happened, you know, it is

         10  what it is.  So, that's unfortunate.  Thank God we

         11  have EPA in the mix.  If not for you, what would DEC

         12  be doing?

         13                 Now, getting back to my history

         14  lesson that I sort of put forward that in the first

         15  Hearing we had back in 1999, in March, where we

         16  uncovered that there was this big consent order that

         17  existed between the state and the City and that

         18  there was this, I guess, as of a couple of weeks

         19  after 1998 deadline, as of February of 1999, there

         20  was this, you know, additional sort of fleet of

         21  tanks that were used primarily for reserve purposes,

         22  that wasn't sort of like their active fleet of tanks

         23  and they had not, as yet, upgraded them.

         24                 Is it the case that these tanks that

         25  were, as of 1999, still non- upgraded?  Are these
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          2  the focus of the consent order that was just sort of

          3  put forward?  Is that what that's about and is my

          4  recollection correct in that that's what we

          5  uncovered in the 1999 Hearing that the City has sort

          6  of like this, you know, fleet of first line tanks

          7  and fleet of sort of second line, like reserve tanks

          8  and that was how they bifurcated what tanks they

          9  were going to pay most attention to with regard to

         10  the 1998 upgrade and which ones they were going to

         11  sort of leave until after the deadline?  Is that

         12  accurate?  Then, is this consent order that exists

         13  between the feds and this City, is it this fleet of

         14  tanks that I'm talking about?

         15                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I think the best way

         16  to put it is when the City first submitted a list of

         17  tanks to the EPA and told the EPA that we didn't

         18  make the deadline in a letter that said we have, you

         19  know, x amount of tanks at x amount of facilities

         20  that are in violation, those are the tanks in that

         21  letter.  My understanding is those are what the City

         22  meant in those tanks.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  When did they

         24  come forward with that? Because is this something

         25  they came forward with right after the 1998
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          2  deadline? Because I remember that after 1998

          3  deadline, EPA wisely said we know that not everyone

          4  is in full compliance, the deadline has just passed,

          5  and if you come forward, we'll be nice to you and

          6  we'll work with you.  But, if you hide from us,

          7  heaven help you.  So, was this a letter that they

          8  came forward with shortly after the deadline --

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  This letter --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- In response

         11  to these inducements by EPA?

         12                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Right, this letter, I

         13  think we talked about back in 1999 --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, fine.

         15                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  -- Several days

         16  before the deadline that, you know, New York City

         17  submitted to EPA, saying we have tanks in violation

         18   --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         20                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  -- And I believe

         21  those are the tanks you're referring to as the

         22   "second line" of tanks.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  In fact, our

         25  enforcement action covers all of New York City's
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          2  tanks.  We don't differentiate between what the City

          3  would look at as, you know, the active front line

          4  and secondary.  These case covers all of their

          5  tanks.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, so walk me

          7  through it. So, back in, right before the deadline,

          8  the City came forward and they gave you a letter

          9  saying that we have some subset of our tank fleet,

         10  which is not upgraded.

         11                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That is correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Did you find

         13  that letter to be comprehensive?

         14                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I think it's a

         15  question the City can best answer.  I don't believe,

         16  the letter was a very preliminary letter.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         18                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I don't really -- I

         19  mean the City can speak better for what they feel

         20  they had --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Fine.

         22                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  -- But I don't

         23  believe it was a really detailed letter of exactly

         24  what was wrong.  I think it was --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It was like,
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          2  there exists tanks out there.

          3                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Right, we have a

          4  problem --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          6                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  -- Let's talk about

          7  it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  It was not really

         10  that detailed.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Is the Consent

         12  Order that was arrived at, I guess, what? 2002,

         13  whatever it was, right? 2002?

         14                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  No, 2002 is the

         15  complaint.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, it was the

         17  complaint. Now, so, you were working from early,

         18  what, from like late 1998 on this problem that

         19  resulted in a formal complaint being filed in 2002?

         20  Is that a fair way for me to look at it?

         21                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That is correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, you made

         23  the complaint, there was a series of negotiations

         24  over time that finally commenced in this settlement.

         25    So, it was really, it was the same problem that
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          2  was brought forward in, by the EPA's inducement and

          3  by the City coming forward saying we still have non-

          4  compliant tanks and that started a process that

          5  ultimately resulted in a complaint being filed in

          6  2002 and a settlement being reached whenever it was

          7  reached?  Recently, right?

          8                 MR. MCKENNA:  Recently.

          9                 Mr. BERNSTEIN:  That is correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Can you speak

         11  for what prompted you to actually come forward and

         12  issue the complaint? Was it you, was it the U.S.

         13  Attorney or how does that work?  I'm not a lawyer,

         14  but you're the federal government and from where I

         15  sit, like the federal government was working with

         16  the City for a couple of years on this problem and

         17  it came to a point in 2002, where you guys felt or

         18  the U.S. Government felt it had to file the

         19  complaint.  It seems to me that things weren't going

         20  all that well, like you really had to get their

         21  attention and what it is that sort of led to the

         22  U.S. Taking this action for and filing this

         23  complaint? If you're free to speak about that.

         24                 MR. MCKENNA:  Yeah, I mean, there's

         25  violations, we're aware that there's violations,
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          2  based on the violations, we make a decision on what

          3  type, if any, enforcement mechanism we're going to

          4  take.  For this, we, our choice was to involve the

          5  U.S. Department of Justice and on our behalf, they

          6  filed a complaint in 2002.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.  Now, it

          8  doesn't have to work that way.  It could have been

          9  the case where these discussions that commenced in

         10  late 1998 could have resulted in some sort of

         11  negotiated outcome without doing this whole

         12  complaint thing, right?  Or, does it have to work

         13  that way? Again, I'm, it doesn't have to work that

         14  way, right?

         15                 MR. MCKENNA:  On the way that the

         16  case developed and the process, we're not sure.  I'm

         17  not sure we have the liberty to talk about it right

         18  now.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Alright, it

         20  went where it went.  Okay.

         21                 MR. MCKENNA:  It went where it went

         22  and, you know, doing environmental enforcement for a

         23  long time, as I have, you're making various

         24  decisions based on, on numerous factors on which

         25  tool you'll use to achieve environmental compliance
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          2  and maintain it in the future.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

          4                 MR. MCKENNA:  So, those decisions go

          5  into play and that's why we did it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, that's

          7  fair enough and I respect it.  You can't be

          8  completely forthcoming with everything, everything,

          9  everything.  But, what I'll do is, I'm going take a

         10  little break myself, but we have other Council

         11  Members that want to pose questions and I recognize

         12  Council Member White.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Thank you very

         14  much Mr. Chairman.  Good morning.

         15                 MR. MCKENNA:  Good morning.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  How are you?

         17  Maybe this has been asked before, but how does the

         18  EPA decide whether or not UST enforcement actions

         19  will be at an administrative or judicial case?

         20                 MR. MCKENNA:  I think, I think we

         21  sort of just went into that, but there are various

         22  factors involved and not specific to this case or

         23  any others, but we determine, you know, what the

         24  violations are, the seriousness of the violations,

         25  how long the violations have existed, what the
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          2  potential economic benefit of the violations were,

          3  how long compliance is going to take to achieve,

          4  what the history of non- compliance has been. All

          5  those factors go into making that determination and

          6  determinations are based, as I said.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.  It is

          8  the Committee's understanding that the Energy Policy

          9  Act of 205, which included the Underground Storage

         10  Tank Compliance Act of 205 amended the federal UST

         11  provisions of the RCRA, including with respect to

         12  secondary contaminant inspections and the remedies

         13  of remediation of release that contain oxinated

         14  (sic) fuel additives, such as MTBE,

         15  methylterritoribioethio (phonetic) --

         16                 MR. MCKENNA:  You're close.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  I missed

         18  science.

         19                 MR. MCKENNA:  We get it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  I tried the

         21  best I could.

         22                 MR. MCKENNA:  That's good, it was a

         23  good try.

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  We can't say it

         25  either, so.
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          2                 MR. MCKENNA:  We call it MTBE.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Yes.

          4                 MR. MCKENNA:  We're good at that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  The MTBE,

          6  yeah.

          7                 MR. MCKENNA:  The energy bill had

          8  numerous revisions to or contemplates numerous

          9  revisions to the underground storage tank program

         10  and, you know, some of them are the secondary

         11  containment, as you said.  There's new funding

         12  requirements, new inspection requirements, new

         13  operator certification requirements, but specific to

         14  MTBE, is that?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  That's

         16  correct.

         17                 MR. MCKENNA:  It allows to use,

         18  David.

         19                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Well, I mean, is your

         20  question, how are we dealing with MTBE itself or

         21  just how does the energy policy act deal with

         22  everything?  I'm not really sure where you're

         23  actually going, so I apologize, but I kind of --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  The first part

         25  first and then the second part.
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          2                 MR. MCKENNA:  How does the new policy

          3  energy act deal with MTBE in regards to --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  What is M,

          5  what is that?

          6                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  MTBE is an oxygen

          7  which helps the combustion of fuel.  It's used to

          8  lower emissions.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.

         10                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  It's one of those

         11  silly things where someone came up with the great

         12  idea of reducing air emissions, but, you know, the

         13  unintended consequence is water pollution.  So, you

         14  know, the energy act deals with that, I believe

         15  that, and I don't really focus on this area as much

         16  as I should, but MTBE, you know, we have a lot of

         17  programs in New York State, especially on Long

         18  Island, where we deal with studying the

         19  contamination, there's more funding for dealing with

         20  remediation of it.  I'm not sure it really relates

         21  that much to New York City and the work here we did

         22  with, you know, New York City and our current

         23  situation.  I'm not sure it really changes much

         24  here. The things that really matter here are we're

         25  going to have to inspect every facility in New York
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          2  City that has never been inspected before since

          3  1998.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.

          5                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That's one of the key

          6  things.  So, all facilities have to be inspected and

          7  then they'll go on to a three year inspection cycle,

          8  at a minimum.  So, every three years, they'll need a

          9  full compliance inspection.  We're also changing

         10  regulations to allow delivery prohibition, so if a

         11  facility is out of compliance, they will not be

         12  allowed to receive fuel, which is a big change for

         13  us, because it's always been hard to deal with

         14  recalcitrant people who just kind of ignore your

         15  regulations and keep operating.  Now, when they're

         16  in violation, we can shut them down completely.

         17                 So, these are the real key things

         18  that are going to really affect New York City.

         19  We're going to have special training programs for

         20  owners and operators, which we've never had before,

         21  where people will actually have to go and be

         22  certified in how to deal with tanks.  And, we'll

         23  train people on actually how to operate their

         24  facilities, which is something we've never really

         25  had at a formal level.
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          2                 You may have also heard the term

          3  LUST, Leaking Underground Storage Tank versus UST.

          4  One of the things about our program is there's a lot

          5  more LUST money than there is UST money.  UST money

          6  is just money that we get out of our regular

          7  allocation. LUST money comes from a dedicated fund

          8  from a tenth of a penny of tax on gas.  So, that

          9  fund has millions and millions of dollars available

         10  to us.  For the first time, we're going to use that

         11  money for enforcement.  So, we'll be able to

         12  increase our enforcement activity and increase our

         13  funding of enforcement activities, which will be a

         14  great advantage to us to have a greater presence.

         15  So, I think these are the things that really affect

         16  New York City.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  So, you're

         18  going to be examining all of these tanks?

         19                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Every facility that

         20  has not been inspected since 1998 must be inspected.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay, I, you

         22  know, just from taking a look at the consumption of

         23  fuel and high cost of fuel, the tanks that are

         24  currently in the ground probably had a certain

         25  lifetime and a certain usage and a certain amount of
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          2  gallons over that amount of time that probably has

          3  been exceeded. I'm not a scientist, this is just me

          4  just saying, well, you know, I bought a car that was

          5  going to go 100 miles, but I found out I had to go

          6  10,000 miles.  So, you know, the tires and

          7  everything and the tune- ups have to be modified.  A

          8  lot of these tanks that have been put in the ground,

          9  that you have to inspect, I would venture to guess

         10  that a lot of them are not up to par in terms of its

         11  structure in and of itself.

         12                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  You're exactly

         13  correct.  It's just like an old car.  People want to

         14  run it as long as they can to save money and the

         15  same thing happens in the tank program.  It's

         16  expensive to put in a new tank, so some people try

         17  to use an old tank for as long as they can and hope

         18  it doesn't leak.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  So, we'll be

         20  able to measure that?

         21                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  We'll be able to

         22  check and see if their tanks are up to date, they're

         23  doing all the proper operating and monitoring

         24  procedures, if there's any corrosion. We can do a

         25  lot of testing to see if there's any problems.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Have you got

          3  any idea how many tanks you have to inspect?

          4                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I try not to think

          5  about that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Well, we need

          7  to think about it right now.

          8                 MR. MCKENNA:  Those numbers, you

          9  know, those numbers are being worked out.  But,

         10  yeah, we have to find out --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.

         12                 MR. MCKENNA:  -- I mean, it's a

         13  question, number one, what are the total universe of

         14  tanks --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.

         16                 MR. MCKENNA:  -- We have a pretty

         17  good handle on that and what we're trying to figure

         18  out now is what tanks since 1998 have been

         19  inspected, which tanks need to be inspected within

         20  the next couple of years, as required by the Act.

         21  Not only are there, is there a requirement to do

         22  inspections of tanks that haven't been inspected,

         23  it's also a requirement that we or the delegated

         24  states will have to go out and do inspections every

         25  three years of every tank.  So, there's not only

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  that initial load that we'll have to do, there will

          3  be a recurring inspection frequency based on this

          4  revision to the underground storage tank

          5  regulations.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  I was just

          7  trying to get, I know, not to hold you to a specific

          8  number in terms of a time frame to do everybody that

          9  needs to be done, to fit into the time frame of

         10  every three years.  I mean, how long would it take

         11  to do those, I mean, just an educated guess, I'm not

         12  holding you to it.

         13                 MR. MCKENNA:  To do --

         14                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Yes, the ball --

         15  sorry, the ballpark is I think we have 5,000

         16  inspections to do in the next 18 odd months.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Can you do it

         18  in 18 months?

         19                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I don't have a choice

         20   --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.

         22                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  -- So I will do it --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  It's not just EPA,

         25  it's also the state, it's also if New York City can
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          2  do inspections.  It's a coordinated effort.  After

          3  that, if there's, you know, 27 or 28,000 facilities

          4  in New York State, you have to do them every three

          5  years, if you do the math, you're doing quite a few

          6  facilities every year.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  I just have

          8  two more questions Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  In the area of

         11  southeast Queens, where I come from, we have up to

         12  350,000 people obtaining drinking water from the

         13  ground system known as the Jamaica wells and it

         14  covers approximately 29 square miles in southeast

         15  Queens. Do you know of any of the USTs located in

         16  the vicinity of those wells?

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Do I know their

         18  existence?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Yes.

         20                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.  Have

         22  they been inspected?

         23                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Some years ago, I

         24  actually got myself a map with the New York City

         25  wells in the area, the Jamaica water supply wells,
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          2  and we did inspect every facility we could identify

          3  within those well areas.  So, we have been out to

          4  southeast Queens and we have inspected most of the

          5  facilities we could locate.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Had there been

          7  any releases from those underwater tanks that you

          8  can recall?

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Not from our specific

         10  inspections. Unfortunately, releases are always

         11  handled by the New York State Department of

         12  Environmental Conservation and I hate to say you

         13  should ask them, but they actually oversee all the

         14  remediation work.  So, they would be the source of

         15  information on any releases in that area.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay, now I

         17  read in your testimony that the EPA also recognizes

         18  that because of the size and diversity of the

         19  regulated community, state and local governments

         20  were in the best position to oversee the USTs.

         21  State UST programs approved by EPA can operate in

         22  lieu of federal programs.  To be approved, states

         23  must equal or more stringent regulations than the

         24  federal requirements.  Once a state program becomes

         25  approved, its regulations are federally enforceable,
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          2  which means they must meet your guidelines --

          3                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  -- Even though

          5  its not your direct responsibility, indirectly they

          6  don't get approval unless they at least match what

          7  your guidelines are or exceed what your guidelines

          8  are.

          9                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That's right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  So, indirectly

         11  you would have to have a report on what the state is

         12  doing even though you're not directly responsible,

         13  but you have to certify them, is that correct?

         14                 MR. MCKENNA:  Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay, so in

         16  terms of a meeting that I had with the elected

         17  officials and block and civic associations in the

         18  area of southeast Queens concerning their concerns

         19  about contamination in the water system, you know,

         20  I'm respectfully requesting that, you know, whatever

         21  agency, Mr. Chair, has to take a look at that, to

         22  see whether or not it reached the federal guidelines

         23  in terms of tanks.

         24                 Some of the builders are building

         25  homes on top of former gas stations.  I've seen it
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          2  for myself.  I don't know whether or not they got

          3  approval to do that.  I know that they're not

          4  supposed to, but I'm just bringing that to your

          5  attention in terms of a complaint.  I would gladly

          6  give you the location, it's 144th Avenue and Guy R.

          7  Brewer Boulevard.  A bunch of homes were built

          8  there, two homes were built right on top of a gas

          9  station. I know those gas tanks were in the ground

         10  and those homes are for sale and those people are

         11  going to be not only impacted by the loss of wealth,

         12  but their health.  So, I will give that information

         13  to the Chair as well, to make sure it's correct and

         14  I would appreciate any assistance that you can give

         15  my constituents in that area.

         16                 MR. MCKENNA:  Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         19  Council Member White.  We've been joined by Council

         20  Member Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn, a returning

         21  Member of this Committee, very pleased to have him

         22  here today.  With regard to continuing questions, I

         23  recognize Council Member Stewart.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you

         25  Mr. Chair and I want to thank you for welcoming me
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          2  to this Committee.  I pledge to be working closely

          3  with you to make sure that we make a difference.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I have a few

          6  questions. I might be a little, I might be a novice

          7  in terms of environmental protection, but you have

          8  said basically that under the settlement with the

          9  City, that the City had to pay $1.3 million.  Have

         10  the violations been corrected, that they had to pay

         11  this $1.3 million?  I mean, if you come to

         12  settlement, I just wanted to know if the violations

         13  that they are being charged with, the $1.3 million

         14  that --

         15                 MR. MCKENNA:  Just to speak in

         16  general, because we can't get into too many deals,

         17  too many details on this existing settlement because

         18  right now it is still in the public comment period.

         19  It's a proposed settlement.  But, to go into

         20  generalities, as far as a settlement, or what will

         21  result in a federal consent decree or really any

         22  federal or even administrative settlement, the

         23  compliance stages could be, there could be varying

         24  compliance stages.

         25                 Some settlements address and settle a
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          2  case and assess a penalty and people agree upon a

          3  penalty and there's a long- term construction

          4  schedule associated with that to get the facility

          5  into compliance and you take care of what you need

          6  to do in the interim to minimize the impacts of that

          7  non- compliance. Some settlements require just a

          8  payment of penalty and an acknowledgment that the

          9  responsible party has come into compliance and

         10  that's it.  So, I mean, on this particular, so there

         11  could be various --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Does it mean

         13  that the other companies, for example, Gaseteria and

         14  the other service stations and all that, that you

         15  may have had taken to courts, whatever, and you may

         16  have, I just want to know if there is a correction

         17  for every time you, let's say you get a settlement

         18  and they have to pay because they know they violated

         19  the law --

         20                 MR. MCKENNA:  Yeah.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- I'm

         22  saying, is there a correction or is there some force

         23  or someone coming in to correct the problem?  In

         24  other words, to remove whatever the violation is?

         25                 MR. MCKENNA:  In all cases where
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          2  we're taking enforcement action to address a

          3  violation, ultimately, we want the correction of

          4  that violation.  It could be at the time of the

          5  settlement or it could be in the future at some

          6  point.  But, we're not going to walk away from a

          7  violation that we've addressed until there is some

          8  agreement and actually confirmation that there is

          9  final compliance.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  You have any

         11  pending violation now that is from New York City for

         12  any of these companies that you charge them and now

         13  you have any --

         14                 MR. MCKENNA:  There are ongoing

         15  enforcement actions within the City of New York

         16  with, at other facilities.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  The reason

         18  why I'm asking that, we don't hear much about these

         19  things and we like to know that you're working on

         20  our behalf to make sure they protect our residents.

         21  So, we would like to know what is happening, who is

         22  violating the law, which company or gas station is

         23  doing that. What happens to tanks that no longer in

         24  service, that you had a gas station, it's down and

         25  the place is no longer a gas station, but the tanks
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          2  might be still in the ground?  What happens there?

          3  Is that a violation?

          4                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  In a perfect world,

          5  somebody would remove the tanks, ship them off, do a

          6  full analysis of the soil in the area to make sure

          7  there's been no contamination, you know, file the

          8  report with DEC that the site's been permanently

          9  closed and fill it back in.  That's the perfect

         10  scenario and what the regulations call for.

         11                 You can also close a tank in place,

         12  where you'd fill the tanks where they are, do,

         13  again, a site assessment to make sure there's been

         14  no contamination, the tanks get filled with concrete

         15  or sand, so they can never be used again.  Then,

         16  again, the site is cleaned, we're notified, the

         17  state's notified that the site no longer exists as a

         18  tank facility and that's what should happen at

         19  facilities where tanks are no longer being used. At

         20  which point, you could use the facility for anything

         21  that's legal.

         22                 That's, of course, a perfect world.

         23  Unfortunately, we'll have station owners and they

         24  may not have that much money, so they'll just stop

         25  using the tanks and they'll leave them empty.
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          2  That's happens all the time and we'll go out and

          3  we'll do enforcement action and convince them to

          4  close the tanks permanently.  So, you have, you

          5  know, like every scenario, you can have what should

          6  be done, which is the tanks are closed in place or

          7  removed or what also happens is where they just

          8  abandon them.  They'll walk away, they may pull the

          9  tanks without doing a site assessment, in which case

         10  we don't know if there is contamination.  So,

         11  there's a lot of things that can happen at stations

         12  where tanks are no longer used.  And, like the fine

         13  gentleman said earlier, there's a facility out on

         14  Guy Brewer Boulevard and 144th Avenue --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Correction,

         16  138th Avenue.

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay, I think I've

         18  been to that facility.  It's very common, I'll go

         19  out to find a facility for an inspection and I'll

         20  see a new housing development and it's hard to go

         21  back and track who was the owner of the facility,

         22  did they do all the proper paperwork.  Usually,

         23  however, with housing developments, they're digging

         24  out to put in a basement, so they're removing

         25  everything down there.  So, usually, they'll find a
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          2  problem because they're digging actually an entire

          3  basement, so they're not always as dangerous as you

          4  might think. But, normally, what we get is we'll get

          5  just an abandoned gas station and we'll find no

          6  owner.  He's skipped off somewhere and then we have

          7  to go try to track him down to take care of the

          8  problem.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  On another

         10  note, why is that heating oil is not covered under

         11  this regulation and checked.  Why is it?  What's the

         12  reason?

         13                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I was asked this

         14  question about 15 years ago at a big meeting and,

         15  you know, my first guess was, well, I guess they had

         16  a really big lobby in Washington.  But, what really

         17  is my best guess from all the documents I've

         18  reviewed is, heating oil is a northeast issue.  The

         19  midwest, the south, they don't have heating oil

         20  tanks, so it wasn't a national concern.  It should

         21  have been covered.  But, then again, that problem

         22  would be that EPA would be regulating small home

         23  owners, which is something they've really never done

         24  much.  So basically, Congress decided that since it

         25  was just a northeast local issue, I guess, they just
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          2  skipped over it.  So, they're not covered, although

          3  they are as great a threat as gasoline tanks.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I see.

          5  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

          7  Council Member Stewart.  I recognize Council Member

          8  Viverito.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Thank you

         10  Mr. Chair, but following- up on Council Member

         11  Stewart's question, because that was something that

         12  I wanted to touch on, was on the on- site

         13  consumption and you say it's of concern.  So, I

         14  guess the question is, have there been any sort of

         15  preliminary analysis done by the EPA about the

         16  potential, you know, any concerns regarding these

         17  tanks?  I know that a lot of people here do have

         18  underground tanks to heat oil in the home.  So, has

         19  any study been done around that issue? Even if it's

         20  preliminarily to look at the implications or.

         21                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  I'm not -- I suspect

         22  somebody might have taken a look at the problem at

         23  one point back in the '80's.  I'm not familiar with

         24  any study, although I should clarify that if any

         25  heating oil tank leaks, it does fall under New York

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  State regulation.  So, New York State DEC does have

          3  full authority to require remediation of any heating

          4  oil tank, no matter what size.  They don't actually

          5  have that limitation.  So, that's one area where

          6  they're more strict than the federal government.

          7  So, they may not regulate a 500 gallon heating oil

          8  tank in your home for leak detection or

          9  installation, but if it does actually have a leak,

         10  they do have full authority to require it be cleaned

         11  up.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  So, this is

         13  maybe something locally that we may want to look

         14  more at.  But, the other question is with regards to

         15  the approved program and the fact that New York

         16  State does not have an approved program.  I know the

         17  questions have been asked, but what's the benefit

         18  for a state to have an authorized program, you know,

         19  versus not having one?  At what point, you know,

         20  does the authority change or what's the benefit of

         21  being part of an authorized program? Because it

         22  seems like the inspections are going on anyway, you

         23  know, the regulations, there's regulations that have

         24  oversight over these issues and that if we fall out

         25  of compliance in certain areas, that there are
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          2  repercussions, but I want to know the distinction

          3  between having and not having an authorized program,

          4  what the benefits are.

          5                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay, the real

          6  benefit and, you know, when I talk about state

          7  program approval, it's a lovely little, you know,

          8  badge of honor, but the real benefit is that if New

          9  York State has a program that's approved, it's at

         10  least, at a minimum, the equivalent to the federal

         11  program, which means when the state finds a

         12  violation for somebody who didn't do a site

         13  assessment, instead of having to refer that to EPA,

         14  they can handle that themselves.  Basically, they'll

         15  have a better program, they'll have more

         16  capabilities, they'll have more authority.  It's,

         17  you know, it's not about approval, it's about having

         18  regulations that are at a minimum at the federal

         19  level and that gives the state far more power to do

         20  the things they need to do.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Well, it

         22  gives the state power, but in terms of, then who has

         23  oversight, I mean, I'm assuming then EPA still has,

         24  you know, has oversight over the state to make sure

         25  that they are following those regulations, correct?
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          2  I mean --

          3                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  -- That's

          5  where, okay.

          6                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  But, then again, it

          7  gives the state the ability to do enforcement action

          8  without having to refer, you know, refer cases to

          9  EPA, and as we know here, we have five inspectors.

         10  The state has a lot more inspectors.  So, the state

         11  can better handle an enforcement case without having

         12  to break it into pieces.  There's many times the

         13  state will go to a facility, they'll do an

         14  enforcement case for their violations, but they have

         15  to refer to us the federal violations, which means

         16  we're both wasting our time at a facility.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Okay.

         18                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  It would be much more

         19  efficient if one entity, be it state or federal

         20  government, can handle all the violations at the

         21  facility.  Same here with New York City, if the

         22  state had full requirements to require upgrades, and

         23  did that in their 1994 Consent Order, and this is

         24  all speculation, we may not be here right now,

         25  because they could have handled it all in one
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          2  consent agreement.  Right now, they can't do that.

          3  So, it's far more efficient to have both EPA and the

          4  state working on the same page with the same

          5  regulations to do our enforcement work.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  I

          7  understand that and I can understand the efficiency

          8  aspect.  I guess my concern in terms of the

          9  environmental protection aspect is, okay, so we are

         10  authorized, we now have this program and how often

         11  would the EPA come back to check whether the state

         12  is in compliance, you know? And, that they are

         13  following the right regulations?  It's not --

         14                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Well, that's --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  I hope it's

         16  not --

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That's --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  -- An

         19  opportunity --

         20                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  That's --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  -- For the

         22  EPA to just walk and say, well now the state has

         23  authorized and they'll do their own monitoring.  I

         24  want to know at one --

         25                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  No.

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  -- Point do

          3  we get monitored on that?

          4                 MR. MCKENNA:  That's just, that's an

          5  issue of just basically state oversight and the

          6  major majority of the environmental programs are

          7  delegated to the states and, you know, EPA still

          8  plays a significant role in making sure that the

          9  states are implementing the program correctly --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Okay.

         11                 MR. MCKENNA:  -- With through, you

         12  know, joint inspections, our own independent

         13  inspections, reviews of the state programs, you

         14  know, potentially taking enforcement action when the

         15  state fails to act.  Basically, that's the way we

         16  run most of the environmental programs, is through

         17  state oversight, so, and there is a significant role

         18  for us.  So, they would be reviewed, the

         19  effectiveness of any state program is reviewed by

         20  EPA and evaluated by us.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Okay, so in

         22  the case of the states that do have an authorized

         23  program, what checks exists?  For instance, if

         24  there's concern, whether it's an elected official,

         25  an agency, that maybe the state is not complying or
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          2  not following the specified regulations, what

          3  systems exist for that communication to happen with

          4  EPA to ask for maybe to come in and do an audit or

          5  oversight?  I mean, I'm just trying to understand --

          6                 MR. MCKENNA:  Yes --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  -- How

          8  existing.

          9                 MR. MCKENNA:  -- All those systems

         10  exist.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Okay.

         12                 MR. MCKENNA:  You know, we do audits

         13  of state programs, we do annual and mid- year

         14  reviews of state programs. We do oversight

         15  inspections of state programs, where we have an

         16  inspector, say, Mr. Bernstein, would be with the DEC

         17  inspector to make sure that they're determining

         18  compliance correctly, they're looking at violations.

         19    So, all of those things are done through our state

         20  oversight role.

         21                 If there are violations that we know

         22  about, most other environmental programs have data

         23  systems that are reported to us, that we monitor to

         24  make sure the violations are addressed. If they're

         25  not addressed, then we either threaten or take
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          2  direct federal enforcement action.  When the state

          3  has direct authority to take enforcement action,

          4  they are, it's not a good thing for EPA to come in

          5  and take that action.  So, that's the checks and

          6  balances that works through the environmental

          7  oversight.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Have there

          9  been cases where a state has been certified and that

         10  that authorization is removed?

         11                 MR. MCKENNA:  I don't know in the UST

         12  program if the program has actually been removed.  I

         13  would doubt it.  It's something, as you could

         14  imagine, it's very rarely done on any environmental

         15  program, more of the case you cite deficiencies and

         16  your state has corrective action plans to correct

         17  those deficiencies.  There have been times for other

         18  environmental programs where the states have given

         19  back their authority because the burdens have grown

         20  so much and they're not getting the same level of

         21  funding from EPA or from the federal government.

         22  But, we, if there are examples of removal of any

         23  environmental program or authorities from the

         24  states, they would be very few.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Just one
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          2  more question. Do you have any idea or sense, and

          3  I'm sure we can look into this separately, but do

          4  you have any idea or sense why states don't ask for

          5  the authorization or don't try to apply for it or to

          6  try to get that oversight locally?  I mean, are

          7  there any kind of thoughts that you might have on

          8  that?  Just, why the state may not have applied for

          9  this in the past?  I'm curious to know.

         10                 MR. MCKENNA:  I have thoughts, but

         11  I'll let the state answer that.

         12                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Well, the safe answer

         13  is the state, right now, cannot apply for delegation

         14  because their regulations are not --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Stringent

         16  enough.

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Stringent enough.

         18  So, they couldn't, if they wanted to, they need

         19  regulations.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  That's good

         21  to know. Okay, thank you Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

         23  Council Member.  I just have two questions and then

         24  we could get on to our other witnesses.  I thank you

         25  for staying here so long to answer our questions.  I
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          2  appreciate that.

          3                 When do you expect that the court

          4  will enter the proposed consent decree?

          5                 MR. MCKENNA:  The public comment

          6  period will end in mid- March and then, at that

          7  point, there will be a response to the public

          8  comments and there, we anticipate, there will be a

          9  motion to enter the consent decree at some point

         10  following that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  How does

         12  the EPA typically make sure that a respondent

         13  complies with provisions included in a consent

         14  decree.

         15                 MR. MCKENNA:  There are provisions

         16  built into all consent decrees for reporting, in

         17  some cases, it could be monthly, quarterly meetings.

         18    They will do independent inspections to make sure

         19  things are going okay.  You know, there are numerous

         20  ways that we do track consent orders.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Is the

         22  state DEC usually involved in this process?

         23                 MR. MCKENNA:  I mean, the state will

         24  have copies of the consent decree, will be aware of

         25  the requirements in the consent decree and we have
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          2  no reason to assume that the DEC would not let us

          3  know if they found deviations of the consent decree.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Great, great.

          5  Well, Mr. McKenna, Mr. Bernstein, I really

          6  appreciate you -- Bernstein, Bernstein, really

          7  appreciate you being here and all of the good work

          8  that EPA does on behalf of our environment every day

          9  and I know all of the federal government apparatus,

         10  which is here today, we appreciate your commitment

         11  to the environment and helping us so much.  We

         12  appreciate you being here.  Thank you so much.

         13                 MR. MCKENNA:  Thank you.

         14                 MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  From the

         16  Administration, Mr. Frederick Douglass from the DDC

         17  and Gail Saunders of Corporation Counsel.  And,

         18  Berry, please say hi to Peter Brandt (phonetic) for

         19  us.  We'd also like to call John McCook from the

         20  fire department.  Yes, these are representatives of

         21  the Bloomberg Administration.  We have John McCook

         22  from the fire department, Mr. Frederick Douglass

         23  from DDC and Ms. Gail Saunders from Corporation

         24  Counsel.  Thank you all very much for being here.

         25  We appreciate your patience and your participation
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          2  in today's Hearing.  I'll just wait for the Sergeant

          3  to give out copies of the statements.  But, in the

          4  meantime, we could have the Counsel to the

          5  Committee, Donna DeConstanzo, put you under oath and

          6  then we can proceed.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          8  your right hand.  In the testimony that you're about

          9  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

         10  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         11                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

         12                 MS. McCOOK:  Yes.

         13                 MS. SAUNDERS:  I do.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you all

         16  very much.  I know that Mr. Mc Cook is here to

         17  answer questions and doesn't have a prepared

         18  statement, but we have prepared statements from Ms.

         19  Saunders and Mr. Douglass.  In whichever order you

         20  wish to proceed, you can state your names for the

         21  record and proceed with your testimony.

         22                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Good morning Chairman

         23  Gennaro and Members of the Committee.  My name is

         24  Gail Saunders.  I'm a Senior Counsel in the New York

         25  City Law Department.  I would like to briefly share

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  some background on the role of our federal and state

          3  government partners in the regulation of underground

          4  storage tanks storing petroleum, and then discuss

          5  more specifically the two consent decrees the City

          6  has entered into relating to the City's activities

          7  in this area.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Great, thank

          9  you.

         10                 MS. SAUNDERS:  My testimony, which is

         11  in the record, provides a summary of the federal and

         12  state regulations as they relate to the City of New

         13  York and as Chairman Gennaro already gave an outline

         14  and also our colleagues at EPA, I will just give you

         15  a brief overview of the regulations, just as they

         16  relate to the City of New York.

         17                 With respect to the City's

         18  activities, the Federal Government regulates two

         19  types of underground storage tanks or underground

         20  storage tank systems.  The first that they're

         21  dealing with respect to the consent decree and the

         22  EPA activities with the City, are those used for

         23  motor vehicle refueling and the accessory tanks that

         24  are used for operation and maintenance, such as

         25  waste oil, lube oil, hoist oil and motor oil.  They
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          2  have a number of names.  They are also the tanks

          3  that are used to fuel emergency generators, which

          4  generally contain diesel fuel.

          5                 Now, under the federal regulations,

          6  as our colleagues at EPA also pointed out, all USTs

          7  installed after December 22, 1988 were required to

          8  comply with the federal leak detection requirements

          9  and design standards for new USTs.  USTs that were

         10  installed before December 22, 1988 were required to

         11  comply with the leak detection requirements by

         12  December 22, 1993 and the remaining requirements by

         13  December 22, 1998.

         14                 New York State, as EPA already

         15  pointed out, regulates USTs also and they have

         16  accompanying regulations.  DEC is authorized to

         17  regulate all the petroleum storage facilities either

         18  above ground or under ground, with a combined

         19  capacity of tanks and accompanying piping at a

         20  facility which is greater than 1,100 gallons.  So,

         21  with respect to the City, DEC would regulate all the

         22  tanks containing petroleum products that are

         23  regulated by the federal government, as well as

         24  heating oil at a facility that has tanks greater

         25  than 1,100.  As EPA pointed out, their jurisdiction
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          2  extends to tanks that are over 110 gallons.

          3                 Under the DEC regulations, all our

          4  petroleum storage facilities were required to be

          5  registered with DEC by December 27, 1986.  All new

          6  USTs were required to comply with the DEC leak

          7  detection and design standards by December 27, 1986.

          8  Any USTs that were installed before 1986 were

          9  required to comply with DEC various leak detection

         10  and design standards starting in December 1990 and

         11  continuing through 1992.

         12                 In about 1992, the City began

         13  negotiations with DEC concerning its USTs.  In 1994,

         14  as has already been mentioned, the City entered into

         15  a Consent Order with DEC related to approximately

         16  1,200 USTs.  That was the number of tanks that was

         17  on the initial schedule attached to the order.

         18  These were used for motor vehicle refueling.  So, it

         19  was a particular subset of tanks.  So, in effect, it

         20  wasn't just tanks that, with respect to essential

         21  services, there was only one particular group that

         22  was really included under that order.  It didn't

         23  address the accessory tanks at that time.

         24                 Now, under the order, the City,

         25  through the Department of Design and Construction,
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          2  my colleagues here at DDC, we initiated an

          3  aggressive UST compliance program, and it was

          4  designed to bring all of these motor vehicle

          5  refueling tanks into compliance with both the

          6  federal and the state regulations.  So, although, as

          7  has been pointed out, the regulations differ, the

          8  City's program addressed both regulations.  So, it

          9  was, the tanks would be in compliance with both

         10  state and federal regulations.

         11                 Under this program, the City closed a

         12  significant number of USTs at agency facilities and

         13  it either upgraded or installed new tanks at

         14  remaining facilities.  As DDC reported to the City,

         15  and they will have updates in their testimony, the

         16  City has spent over $300 million to date on the

         17  upgrade, closure, replacement and remediation work,

         18  and that remediation includes soil and ground water,

         19  to bring these agency tanks into compliance with, as

         20  I said before, both the federal and the state

         21  requirements.

         22                 In December, 1998, as EPA already

         23  referred to, the City self- disclosed to the federal

         24  government that there were certain tanks that would

         25  not meet the deadline for compliance. There was
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          2  communication and correspondence between EPA and the

          3  City and there were different numbers that were

          4  submitted and then later were recalculated and after

          5  investigation, the City determined that there were

          6  approximately 380 of these tanks.  The majority of

          7  these contained petroleum product that was used for

          8  the operation and maintenance, as opposed to motor

          9  vehicle refueling.

         10                 The Law Department, at that time,

         11  explained to EPA the City would need to develop a

         12  schedule to bring these tanks into compliance

         13  because certain of these tanks were used by the

         14  agencies to provide critical, essential services.

         15  These tanks would include the USTs used for

         16  emergency generator services and maintenance of the,

         17  for instance, the Police Department, the Fire

         18  Department, Department of Sanitation and the

         19  Department of Transportation and Department of

         20  Environmental Protection.

         21                 The Law Department continued these

         22  negotiations with EPA regarding a schedule for

         23  compliance under a proposed consent order from 1998

         24  through 2001 and these negotiations broke down

         25  shortly after September 11th and then this present
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          2  lawsuit was filed as EPA referred to on December 5,

          3  2002.  After lengthy negotiations between the

          4  parties, the current proposed consent decree was

          5  formalized earlier this year.

          6                 At this time, the agencies has closed

          7  or replaced with above ground tanks, which are not

          8  subject to federal jurisdiction, but are subject to

          9  state jurisdiction.  They've closed a significant

         10  number of the USTs since 1998.  At this time, the

         11  City has approximately 800 tanks at 12 agencies that

         12  are subject to the federal regulations and are thus

         13  required to comply with the proposed settlement

         14  under the consent decree.

         15                 These agencies are the Department of

         16  Cultural Affairs, Department of Environmental

         17  Protection, Department of Correction, Department of

         18  Transportation, Department of Sanitation, the

         19  Economic Development Corporation, which is not an

         20  agency, but is an entity that the City has

         21  jurisdiction over or responsibility for their tanks,

         22  the Department of Juvenile Justice, the Fire

         23  Department, the New York City Police Department, the

         24  Department of Parks, the Taxi and Limousine

         25  Commission, the Health and Hospital Corporation, and

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  the Health and Hospital Corporation.

          3                 The City agencies are continually

          4  installing or closing or replacing tanks to meet

          5  their needs over time.  So, the number of USTs are

          6  subject to change.  Because you will hear various

          7  numbers of tanks from DDC and from myself with

          8  respect to tanks that have been in the program and,

          9  part of the reason for these different numbers is

         10  that the tank universe is not a static universe.  It

         11  changes as the, to meet the agencies' needs.  So,

         12  for instance, and I digress a bit from my testimony,

         13  if an agency were to have, for instance, for

         14  example, four 500 tanks at a facility, when their

         15  tanks are referred to DDC, they could replace those

         16  four 500 to one 2,000.  So, the numbers change in

         17  that respect.

         18                 Getting back to the consent decree,

         19  it requires the City agencies to comply with the

         20  federal design standards and requirements for

         21  monthly leak detection.  Under the decree, the

         22  agencies are also required to comply with the DDC

         23  registration provisions where, as mentioned before,

         24  the combined capacity at the facility is over 1,100

         25  and they are required to comply with the EPA
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          2  registration or notification provisions where the

          3  tank is over 1,100 gallons, but the combined

          4  capacity is below, is 110, but the combined capacity

          5  is below 1,100.

          6                 As part of the settlement under the

          7  consent decree, the parties negotiated a civil

          8  penalty of $1.3 million for the City's failure to

          9  timely bring its USTs into compliance with the

         10  federal regulations.  The consent decree has two

         11  additional requirements.  The first being a

         12  compliance schedule for the upgrade of certain USTs

         13  that were previously upgraded in the City's tank

         14  compliance program and were found to be

         15  malfunctioning when the City conducted

         16  investigations and tests in 2002 to 2003.

         17                 Secondly, it requires the

         18  implementation of a state- of- the- art computerized

         19  remote monitoring system for leak detection.  As it

         20  relates to the compliance schedule, there are 51

         21  tanks on the consent decree schedule attached as

         22  Appendix A for this upgrade or replacement repair.

         23  As mentioned before, these were previously upgraded.

         24    These tanks will be, DDC will perform the required

         25  work on these to bring them into compliance with the

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  consent decree schedule and the federal regulations.

          3                 With respect to the second

          4  requirement, the remote monitoring system, the

          5  consent decree requires the Department of

          6  Transportation, the Police Department and the Fire

          7  Department to install this computerized remote

          8  monitoring system for leak detection as an

          9  environmental project.  These agencies are included

         10  in the consent degree program because they have a

         11  large number of the City's tanks at numerous

         12  locations throughout the five boroughs, which are

         13  subject to the leak detection requirements.  This

         14  type of system will perform continuous leak

         15  detection and although it's not required by either

         16  the federal or state regulations, the City initially

         17  proposed this to bring the tanks into compliance

         18  that's over and above what is required.

         19                 I digress here from my testimony to

         20  point out that the Department of Sanitation, which

         21  does have the largest percentage of the City's

         22  underground storage tanks, they have installed a

         23  similar system.

         24                 The City proposed this implementation

         25  of the system to EPA and, as required by the decree,
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          2  it will monitor each tank from a central location 24

          3  hours a day, seven days a week.  It will provide

          4  immediate notification of any potential or actual

          5  releases.  These records will be automatically

          6  maintained, accessible at any time.  The system will

          7  monitor each individual tank, it will notify the

          8  agency and the vendor of any non compliance or

          9  alarms that might occur in the system.  The vendor

         10  will be able to troubleshoot these alarms

         11  immediately to determine whether the problem is

         12  electronic and it can be addressed by the vendor, or

         13  whether it requires on- site work, either by the

         14  vendor or the client agency.

         15                 In closing, I would like emphasize

         16  that the Law Department is responsible for

         17  negotiating any changes, should they occur, or

         18  modifications to the consent decree and the City's

         19  Department of Design and Construction here with me,

         20  they're responsible for carrying out the upgrade and

         21  any remediation work required on behalf of the

         22  client agencies.  But, each individual agency is

         23  ultimately responsible for their compliance with the

         24  consent decree.  Thank you for your time and

         25  attention.  I will now be happy to answer any
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          2  questions that you might have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          4  Thank you Ms. Saunders.  What we'll do is we'll take

          5  the statement from Mr. Douglass and then we'll

          6  proceed with questions for the entire panel.  Thank

          7  you again for your testimony.  Mr. Douglass, thank

          8  you for being here.  Can you state your name for the

          9  record and commence with your statement.

         10                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Thank you.  Good

         11  morning Chairman and Members of the Environmental

         12  Protection Committee.  My name is Frederick

         13  Douglass, Program Director of the Transportation

         14  Unit with the Department of Design and Construction.

         15                 My testimony today will focus on the

         16  intensive capital program related to underground

         17  storage tanks that DDC has managed since the

         18  Department's inception in 1996.  The City of New

         19  York's efforts to comply with federal and state

         20  environmental initiatives for underground fuel tanks

         21  began in 1991 with a project by the former

         22  Department of General Services for 24 sites under

         23  Budget Line PW- 348.

         24                 In 1994, DGS received a list of tank

         25  locations requiring remediation as a result of a
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          2  consent order signed by the City and the New York

          3  State Department of Environmental Conservation.

          4  That work was transferred to DDC in 1996.

          5                 Based on the list of tanks from the

          6  1994 consent order, DDC either closes, upgrades or

          7  replaces a tank that has a particular location, at a

          8  particular location.  If DDC's Transportation Unit

          9  discovers a leak, future remediation work may be

         10  performed.

         11                 About 244 sites with petroleum spills

         12  are currently being remediated by DDC.  Some $52

         13  million have been committed to this work.  DDC is

         14  performing additional remediation at 51 tank

         15  locations that were previously upgraded.  We are

         16  about 50 percent complete with those.  DDC is also

         17  notified when a petroleum spill occurs at one of the

         18  locations on the list, whether that spill is caused

         19  by a facility operator or oil delivery vendor.

         20                 To date, DDC has completed work on a

         21  total of 2,364 tanks.  This total include 1,670

         22  gasoline and diesel tanks for motor vehicle fueling,

         23  385 fluid tanks that may contain lube, hydraulic or

         24  waste oil and 309 heating oil tanks.  In addition,

         25  DDC has completed the remediation work for
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          2  approximately 117 sites.

          3                 Since 1991, the City has spent $312

          4  million on the tank upgrade program and related soil

          5  and ground water investigation program.  The

          6  majority of the tanks assigned to DDC since 1996

          7  relating to City- owned/managed petroleum storage

          8  facilities have been completed.  The remaining tank

          9  and soil ground water remediation work has been

         10  identified and we are moving diligently towards

         11  compliance.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you Mr.

         13  Douglass.  I appreciate your statement and a lot of

         14  the facts that are presented here.  Let me try to

         15  get a handle on the overall remediation work that

         16  was being performed back when we had the Hearing

         17  seven years ago and what's going on now.  So, just

         18  forgive me as I try to move forward here.

         19                 Now, the 1994 consent order, so the

         20  consent order was put in place in 1994 and I guess

         21  we dealt, at that time, with a part of DGS that was

         22  kind of managing that before your agency came into

         23  existence?

         24                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.
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          2  Presumably, the 1994 consent order, as was pointed

          3  out in Ms. Saunders' statement, resulted from the

          4  City endeavoring to come into compliance with the

          5  1993 leak detection standard and the 1998 tank

          6  replacement deadline.  And, as these tanks were

          7  excavated, it was uncovered that there were leaks

          8  and then that's why DEC got involved and as more and

          9  more tanks were taken out of the ground to be

         10  brought into compliance, that's how the spills came

         11  to be known, and that ultimately resulted in these

         12  early 1990 discussion, early discussions in the

         13  early 1990s between the City and the State that

         14  resulted in the 1994 Consent Order; is that fair to

         15  say?

         16                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's correct.  I

         17  would just like to point out that there were

         18  additional, the DEC were looking also at

         19  registration issues --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         21                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- And a number of

         22  other issues --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         24                 MS. SAUNDERS:  --  With specific DEC

         25  regulations because one of the issues that we're

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  faced with here is that, for instance, the federal

          3  leak detection requirements are not consistent with

          4  the state.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

          6                 MS. SAUNDERS:  So, the City, the

          7  state was enforcing for their state requirement, but

          8  the City ensured that the tanks would meet both

          9  government requirements.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Fine.  Now,

         11  this 1994 consent order, which you're much more

         12  familiar with than I am, would it be fair to say

         13  that once it was put forward in 1994, because as of

         14  1994, we were still pulling tanks out of the ground,

         15  we were still finding new product in the ground.  Is

         16  it fair to say that from the time in 1994, when this

         17  consent order was agreed to, to the Hearing we had

         18  in 1999 to moving forward to the new consent order,

         19  which is going to require more tanks to be brought

         20  out of the ground and put into compliance, is it

         21  fair to say that over time more tanks, as they are

         22  taken out of the ground and there are found to be

         23  spills, sort of become covered by this 1994 consent

         24  order?  Is that how it works?  Is this like a

         25  living, breathing consent order that when it was
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          2  struck, said, as we go forward in the future, as you

          3  find more spills, this is what you have to do kind

          4  of thing?  Is that fair to say?

          5                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's essentially the

          6  nature of the order.  When the parties entered into

          7  the order, both parties recognized that there needed

          8  to be more additional inspection and investigation

          9  because this is a sort of an initial number that the

         10  City was aware of at the time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, at the

         12  time.

         13                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Because what I would

         14  also like to point out here is that the City has

         15  property, one is the City-owned property that is

         16  owned for a number of years and the City is also in

         17  the process of acquiring properties by the very

         18  nature of its functions as a City, it has to require

         19  some of these that for in rem and for other

         20  purposes.

         21                 Unfortunately, when you acquire a

         22  property, the property owner does not necessarily

         23  give the City or perhaps isn't even there to give

         24  them the required information as to the nature and

         25  condition of the property, whether or not it might
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          2  contain underground storage tanks, which probably

          3  were not registered with DEC.  So, the consent order

          4  also recognizes that as the City conducts

          5  investigations of these types of properties and find

          6  tanks, they would put into the program to be

          7  reported to DDC in the upgrade and remediation work.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          9  thank you.  I'd like to point out that we're joined

         10  by Council Member Domenic Recchia, from Brooklyn, a

         11  returning Member of this Committee that we're very

         12  grateful to have on the Committee once again and

         13  with us here today.

         14                 So, going forward from that, this new

         15  consent decree will require sort of more tank

         16  excavations because not all tanks have been brought

         17  into compliance as yet.  So, we're constantly adding

         18  tanks to this, well, I guess there's like a universe

         19  of tanks that will ultimately be covered by the

         20  consent order by virtue of bringing the tanks into

         21  compliance with the new EPA regulations for tanks.

         22  That's one sort of pathway that, and then there are

         23  other activities of City government taking over in

         24  rem properties and, you know, buying land or

         25  whatever.  So, it's fair to say that there will be
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          2  more tanks that will be regulated pursuant to this

          3  consent order, or to this paradigm that was created.

          4    Right?  Is that fair to say?

          5                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Well, yeah, well, at

          6  this point in time, the City doesn't anticipate from

          7  the tank universe that the agencies, but the

          8  agencies would, of course, have to speak for

          9  themselves, but with respect to the order, the

         10  schedule that, it refers to those 51 tanks that

         11  we're all aware of and that --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  The 51 tanks

         13  that were --

         14                 MS. SAUNDERS:  On the schedule.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Replaced --

         16                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That were already

         17  upgraded.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- And then

         19  they started leaking again.

         20                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Well, what they were,

         21  if I might explain?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         23                 MS. SAUNDERS:  They were upgraded and

         24  one of the methods for upgrading is installation of

         25  a cathodic protection system for erosion protection.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, you mean

          3  they were upgraded by not taking them out of the

          4  ground.

          5                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Well, they were lined,

          6  they were upgraded by an interior lining and

          7  installation of this cathodic protection system and

          8  this has tested periodically.  As I think one of the

          9  other Council Member referred to as the analogy of a

         10  tank to a car, things malfunction --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         12                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- And you require

         13  maintenance and at this point in time, the City

         14  determined that instead of, in some instances, just

         15  replacing this cathodic protection system, they

         16  would just install a new tank.  But, what I must

         17  point out is that these tanks have operative leak

         18  detection systems.  So, these are not tanks that are

         19  leaking or had any potential to be leaking.  This

         20  is, it's two separate requirements here.  One, the

         21  leak detection and the corrosion protection.  So, at

         22  this point, the tanks were performing their required

         23  leak detection and we know that they're not leaking.

         24    So, we don't anticipate for those 51 tanks that

         25  there will be any necessity for remediation --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, I see.

          3                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- For those.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, there --

          5                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That, so.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, wait a

          7  minute, but with regard to the 2006 consent --

          8                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Proposed decree.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Decree --

         10                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Yeah, that right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, the

         12  second item is implementation of the state- of- the-

         13  art computerized remote monitoring --

         14                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Where does the

         16  51 tanks come in?

         17                 MS. SAUNDERS:  They are under

         18  compliance schedule. The first --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Compliance

         20  schedule.

         21                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, this

         23  consent order in 2006 focuses on these 51 tanks that

         24  were already upgraded?

         25                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's right, but --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And --

          3                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- There, right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- They are not

          5  leaking, but --

          6                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Not to the best of my

          7  knowledge.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, to the

          9  best of your knowledge, but it's --

         10                 MS. SAUNDERS:  If I might, I just,

         11  explain a little further --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, what was

         13  malfunctioning?

         14                 MS. SAUNDERS:  The cathodic

         15  protection system.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It was

         17  malfunctioning in that --

         18                 MS. SAUNDERS:  What happens is --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  They were

         20  leaking, but-

         21                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Right, they, if, my,

         22  I'm probably telling you more than you want to know,

         23  but --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, it's okay.

         25                 MS. SAUNDERS:  What happens is when
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          2  you put a bare metal tank into soil, electric

          3  current is generated, which can corrode the exterior

          4  of the tank --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          6                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- And this cathodic

          7  protection system is installed so that it will

          8  generate a current of itself, which will move

          9  towards the tank and basically overcome the current

         10  that's coming out --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         12                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- Of the tank, so

         13  that the tank will not be corroded.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

         15                 MS. SAUNDERS:  So, that's one aspect

         16  of the consent order.  However, the consent order is

         17  global in that the federal government is responsible

         18  for regulating all of the City's tanks.  So, it has

         19  a blanket provisions in there, stating that any

         20  tanks that we might have must be in compliance.

         21  That is why there is that additional one year period

         22  in there for the City to bring any tanks that it

         23  might have that may not meet any of the

         24  requirements.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, let's
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          2  just talk about that for a second.  Of the City's

          3  entire fleet of tanks that it was obligated to bring

          4  into compliance by December 22, 1998 and had not

          5  brought into compliance by 1998, and came forward to

          6  the EPA and admitted as much, are there still any

          7  tanks from back then that have not been upgraded to

          8  current EPA standards?

          9                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That is a question

         10  that each individual agency would have to answer --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, no, no, no,

         12  no, you --

         13                 MS. SAUNDERS:  I can only --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Can't --

         15                 MS. SAUNDERS:  But let me --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, no --

         17                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Let me --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, no, no --

         19                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Let me explain.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No, no, no --

         21                 MS. SAUNDERS:  I'm going to tell you

         22  what the information that has been reported to the

         23  Law Department with respect to the --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         25                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- Negotiations with
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          2  the consent decree.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  This would be

          4  also a question for DDC as well --

          5                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Yeah, it would.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Because it

          7  can't be the case that the witnesses here today

          8  cannot provide, not even, not, you know, exact

          9  numbers, but not, whether or not there are tanks

         10  that even exist and have been upgraded.

         11                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Right, I qualified my

         12  statement --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, please.

         14                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- By saying that the

         15  specifics would have to be, the agency would have to

         16  answer.  However, with respect to the consent decree

         17  and actually tanks that were revealed or disclosed

         18  to the EPA during the course of our negotiations, we

         19  recognize that there were approximately 25 tanks

         20  that needed additional work, that have never been

         21  upgraded or --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Is that to say,

         23  again, I just have to try to understand what I'm

         24  hearing there.  Of the entire fleet of tanks, which

         25  was required to be brought, by 1998, into full
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          2  compliance with EPA, to your knowledge, there are

          3  only approximately 25 tanks that have not been, that

          4  have not been upgraded to current EPA standards,

          5  either through tank replacement or lining --

          6                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Upgrade.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Or some

          8  other kind of upgrade.

          9                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That they've never

         10  been.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, is that

         12  your testimony?

         13                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Is it

         15  the case that there could be other tanks that you

         16  are not aware of that haven't been brought forward

         17  by the agencies and are still in need of sort of an

         18  upgrade that would bring them up to current EPA

         19  standards?

         20                 MS. SAUNDERS:  It's highly unlikely.

         21  But, as I pointed out before, there's still ongoing

         22  investigations --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         24                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- Of properties that

         25  have been acquired and --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

          3                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- One would not want

          4  to make the statement to say that this --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, right,

          6  right, right. That doesn't --

          7                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Yeah.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I didn't really

          9  mean that. I mean, sort of like long- standing City

         10  tanks that it had in its fleet for a long time.  Of

         11  course, there are always, you know, new acquisitions

         12  coming in that the City has to deal with.  I'm not

         13  really talking about those.

         14                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Or old property that

         15  was acquired that's just being investigated, you

         16  know, a more comprehensive investigation --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  --  Right.

         18                 MS. SAUNDERS:  --  Versus excavation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, in terms

         20  of the City's sort of rank and file tanks --

         21                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's right

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- That we

         23  store fuel, we store waste oil, we store whatever.

         24  I mean, those are really what I'm talking about.

         25                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, it would be

          3  highly unlikely that the universe of tanks out there

          4  that still have not been upgraded to current EPA

          5  standards is well in excess of 25, that --

          6                      MS. SAUNDERS:  That's right.

          7                      CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Would

          8  be most unlikely.  Fine.  However, and this is where

          9  the mediation question comes in, of course,

         10  upgrading any individual tank to current EPA

         11  standards, getting that done is a much, much

         12  different question than when that tank was taken out

         13  of the ground to be upgraded, replaced, whatever,

         14  and there was some sort of spill there, that's a

         15  completely separate question as to how many  --

         16  there's like two levels.  There's like getting the

         17  tanks upgraded and there's, you know, cleaning up

         18  the result of corroded leaking tanks.

         19                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Separate

         21  things.  So, on the tank front, so to speak, we're

         22  in pretty good shape.  We've got a relatively small

         23  universe of tanks that still have to be upgraded to

         24  full EPA standards and the DDC is currently

         25  endeavoring, you know, pursuant to the 1994 consent
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          2  order that that paradigm is still, you know, dealing

          3  with tanks, dealing with spills from corroded tanks.

          4    There are a series of numbers put forward in Mr.

          5  Douglass' statement, but to date, how many leaks out

          6  there have yet to be fully remediated?

          7                 That is to say, how many leaks out

          8  there are still just being discovered or in some

          9  level of investigation or some degree of

         10  remediation, you know, something short of full

         11  remediation?  How many, sort of like ongoing spill

         12  remediation projects is DDC working on at this time

         13  as compared to tanks spill cleanups that have been

         14  fully completed?  I know that there are some numbers

         15  here in your statement, but to the extent that you

         16  could answer that question, that would be great.

         17                 MR. DOUGLASS:  One of the things is

         18  that, you know, DEC has to, you know, basically let

         19  us know.  We are kind of a design and management

         20  organization.  So, it has to come to us.  We are not

         21  an investigative, you know, kind of organization.

         22  So, therefore, if it's reported to us and we will go

         23  out and we will give it to one of our contractors to

         24  get remediated.  Right now, to date, there is about

         25  244 and 117 that we have taken care of.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, so  --

          3                 MR. DOUGLASS:  But, as we get, as we

          4  get the packages from either each agency or DEC, we

          5  immediately put it into one of our contract packages

          6  and take care of it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, you are

          8  DDC, what you said you get it from --

          9                 MR. DOUGLASS:  No, DEC.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, DEC, okay.

         11  Let me go through some of the numbers here in your

         12  statement, so I have a better, that I've got a

         13  better facility with.  Oh, what you saying is that,

         14  oh, I see your point, that, yeah, in other words,

         15  some agency, the department of door knobs, whatever

         16  it is, we'll make up an agency.  So, the department

         17  of door knobs has a tank and it's leaking.  DEC is

         18  brought into the picture by virtue of the fact that

         19  there is a spill there.

         20                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Then, DEC

         22  communicates with you, because, after all, DEC is

         23  working with DDC, that DEC --

         24                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Unless  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- Is working
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          2  with DDC by virtue of the consent order and all

          3  those agreements you have. So, my question is, the

          4  agency, whatever it is, department of door knobs,

          5  department of broom sticks, whatever, is coming

          6  right to you as the entity that it has to deal with

          7  on these spills --

          8                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Unless --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- How does

         10  that information transfer work?

         11                 MR. DOUGLASS:  You know, unless we've

         12  already had the job, a tank, you know, program in

         13  one of the projects, the site that we have and the

         14  spill appears and then we are notified either by the

         15  agency or our CM at that particular time --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, but --

         17                 MR. DOUGLASS:  -- And we'll take care

         18  of that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Keep in mind

         20  that we're really talking about the long- standing

         21  fleet of tanks that, you know, existed in the  '80's

         22  and were subject to this EP upgrade provision.  I'm

         23  not talking about new members of the family, so to

         24  speak.  I'm talking about that universe of tanks

         25  that was subject to the upgrade requirement, which
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          2  deadlined in 1998 and that universe of tanks.

          3                 So, my question is, if we only have

          4  about 25 tanks out there from that realm that are

          5  still sort of left undone, not counting new tanks

          6  that come into the City's possession.  If we only

          7  have 25 tanks that haven't been unearthed yet and we

          8  don't know what's in the ground there and all of the

          9  rest of them have, then, presumably, those that had

         10  no free product in the ground, the tank was just

         11  replaced or upgraded or sealed or whatever and the

         12  tanks that did have a problem, presumably with free

         13  product or whatever, were brought to your attention,

         14  brought to DDC's attention and are now the subject

         15  of some investigation, scoping remediation and

         16  ultimate conclusion.  How many tank remediations

         17  like that are still sort of ongoing compared to how

         18  many are finished?

         19                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yeah, that's --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Did I make that

         21  clear?

         22                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes, you did.  That's

         23  the 244 that we mentioned.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, so your

         25  statement says about 244 sites and would sites be
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          2  analogous to tanks or sites could have multiple

          3  tanks, right?

          4                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Sites would be

          5  analogous to sites, because what we do is remediate

          6  the site.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Site.  Okay, so

          8  about, again, going by your statement and I'll try

          9  to get a better, I'll try to become more facile with

         10  these numbers here, but 244 sites with petroleum

         11  spills currently being remediated by DDC.  Okay. So,

         12  their in, some of them may actually be being

         13  remediated, some may still be in investigation or --

         14                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Some may get no

         15  further action --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         17                 MR. DOUGLASS:  -- Which means that

         18  the site has been cleaned  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, these 244

         20  sites and some $52 million has been committed to

         21  this work.  Would it be accurate to say that the $52

         22  million that has been committed would be sufficient

         23  to clean up all these sites?  Or, is this kind of

         24  like a moving target where some of the ones haven't

         25  really been fully scoped yet and we don't know how

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  much they're going to cost?  So, the $52 million

          3  wouldn't include those tanks because we don't know

          4  how bad they are yet because they're still being

          5  investigated?  Or, is it more accurate to say that

          6  the $52 million will actually do the job and

          7  complete the clean up at these 244 sites?

          8                 MR. DOUGLASS:  No, it is a moving

          9  target.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Moving target.

         11  Okay, so it's, so the commitment number doesn't in

         12  any way sort of give a full estimate of what it

         13  would ultimately cost.  Does anyone have any

         14  estimate of what this would cost at this time, a

         15  ballpark?

         16                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Well, one of the

         17  things that happens with remediation, I mean, it can

         18  take a short period of time or it could take a long

         19  period of time.  So, therefore, you know, monies are

         20  allocated towards  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         22                 MR. DOUGLASS:  -- That effort, so --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  As needed.

         24                 MR. DOUGLASS:  As needed.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.
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          2                 MR. DOUGLASS:  So, it is, you know,

          3  kind of difficult to understand that number.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  So,

          5  again, just getting a better feel for these numbers,

          6  the next number that comes up in your statement, DDC

          7  is performing an additional remediation on 51 tanks

          8  that were previously upgraded, and we spoke about

          9  that.  Okay.  And, that we got a good handle on,

         10  like we know what that's all about, and, these tanks

         11  really aren't leaking anyway and they're like the

         12  subject of this 2006 consent decree.  Got it.  Okay.

         13                 To date, DDC has completed the work

         14  on a total of 2,364 tanks.  So, when we say

         15  completed work, that means that we have sort of

         16  upgraded them to 1998 EPA standards, right?

         17                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Or replaced.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Or replaced.

         19  But, that completed work on, as it says, on 2,364

         20  tanks.  That refers to the tanks and not to spill

         21  clean up, whatever, that would be covered --

         22                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- By the 244

         24  sites.  Okay. Of the 2,364, that includes what?

         25  1,670 gasoline, 385 of this, 309 of that and, in
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          2  addition, DDC has completed the remediation work at

          3  approximately 117 sites.  In that case, you're

          4  talking about spill clean ups?

          5                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  So,

          7  we've got 117 sites that are in like the done pile.

          8                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yeah.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And, we've got

         10  244 sites that are in sort of like the in- process

         11  pile.

         12                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's correct.

         13                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  It is

         15  probably not the case that this universe of 244

         16  sites with spills will grow significantly by virtue

         17  of the fact there's only 25 or so tanks that haven't

         18  been unearthed.

         19                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, the only

         21  sort of soft number here would be the $52 million

         22  that has been committed, that's a hard number, of

         23  course, but what is unknown is how much money it

         24  will ultimately take to clean up these 244 sites.

         25  So, that's the only sort of variable here that we're
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          2  playing with. This is good, right? Everyone's, good.

          3                 Since 1991, the City spent $312

          4  million on tank upgrade.  So, the amount spent to

          5  date, $312 million spent, with an additional $52

          6  million committed for things that we know need to be

          7  done --

          8                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- With more

         10  commitments to be made as necessary.  Okay, yeah,

         11  just hang on to that question for a minute.  So, if

         12  someone ask me as Environmental Chairman or

         13  whatever, supposed to be looking into this stuff,

         14  you know, how much it's going to ultimately cost to

         15  clean up these 244 sites, I'm not going to be able

         16  to give them a good answer, because that's really

         17  not known at this time.  Do we have any sense of

         18  when this number of how much it will ultimately cost

         19  will be more known?  If someone were to ask me that,

         20  what would I say?

         21                 MR. DOUGLASS:  I think that, you

         22  know, once we get into like the, you know, sort of

         23  the 75 or 80 percent range, we'd probably have a

         24  better handle on it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, so,
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          2  yeah, so for now, because we're only about, well,

          3  244 plus 117, what is that? 361. So, of 361 sites,

          4  we have 117 done and about 244.  So, we're about

          5  one- third of the way home in terms of putting them

          6  in, of getting them done.  Yeah, about one- third of

          7  the way home, but, well, again, we don't know, maybe

          8  even more than that, because some of these, because

          9  these 244 sites have begun.

         10                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Now, we're talking

         11  about spills right now.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Spills, spills.

         13                 MR. DOUGLASS:  One of the things

         14  about the, you know, the remediation process is with

         15  DEC, not DDC, but DEC --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What's that?

         17                 MR. DOUGLASS:  With DEC, but not DDC.

         18    And, DEC, what happens with the spills is, is

         19  that, you know, once we get to a level where we

         20  believe that the site is clean enough, we put in the

         21  request for no further action.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         23                 MR. DOUGLASS:  So, therefore, if DEC

         24  believes that it still should be monitored and

         25  remediated, we will continue.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          3                 MR. DOUGLASS:  This is why this kind

          4  of number is kind of --.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, yes.  Do

          6  we, for, how about this, for, by your statement, it

          7  would seem that if we're talking about 244 sites

          8  that are currently being remediated, that would seem

          9  to suggest that all of the 244 sites have been at

         10  least fully investigated and scoped and now they're

         11  in the remediation phase, either like the

         12  remediation is being planned or the remediation is

         13  underway.

         14                 But, this statement seems to suggest

         15  that all of the 244 sites are sort of through the

         16  investigation stage and like the scoping stage and

         17  we have some sense of what it's going to take to

         18  remediate them or actually involved in the

         19  remediation.  Is that fair to say that all 244 sites

         20  have been fully investigated and we have some

         21  insight as to what the remediation is going to.  One

         22  at a time, I mean, have 244 sites sort of finished

         23  the investigation stage?  That question.

         24                 MR. DOUGLASS:  They have been

         25  finished and some need some form of design on how
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          2  they will be remediated.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, because

          4  first you investigate them and then you design the

          5  remediation and then you, you know, implement the

          6  remediation.  So, all of the sites are through the

          7  investigation stage --

          8                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Or the scoping stage.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Scoping stage

         10  and now the remediations are either underway or

         11  they're being designed, that's fair to say?

         12                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, well,

         14  that's good -- God bless you.  There's something we

         15  touched on a little but, but perhaps it bears a

         16  little more probing and that is the information

         17  exchange between the various agencies that have

         18  tanks and their reporting to the DDC, to the DEC of

         19  any leaks that they may uncover.  But, what is the

         20  process by which they would communicate directly to

         21  you and your folks.  Is that something, is that a

         22  process which is in place or is the loop really, you

         23  know, the department of door knobs has a problem and

         24  then it calls the DEC and then you're brought in

         25  after that.  We're wondering if there's some sort of
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          2  direct pipeline that goes right to you once someone

          3  finds product in the ground.

          4                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Not from the agencies,

          5  not directly from the agencies.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What's that?

          7                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Not directly from the

          8  agencies. There are some times where DEP and the

          9  Fire Department will come to us with a program.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.  You

         11  know what I'm going to do?  I'm going to recognize

         12  Counsel to the Committee, Donna DeCostanzo, who has

         13  a nuance on that question that she wants to get

         14  clarified.  I recognize Donna DeCostanzo.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  I was just

         16  going to ask you whether or not DDC though, do you

         17  get reports from the other agencies with respect to

         18  whether or not they're going to temporary close a

         19  tank or permanently close a tank or any other

         20  activities regarding tanks, even aside from

         21  suspected releases or actual releases?

         22                 MR. DOUGLASS:  No.  No we don't.  One

         23  of the things that does happen because DEC is a

         24  managing agency, they manage other agencies within.

         25  I'm the Program Director of the Tanks Unit, but, you
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          2  know, we have Program Directors of fire, police, and

          3  sometimes when they are doing a project and they

          4  come across a tank, they may come to us for

          5  assistance.  So, therefore, if, in fact, that we can

          6  help them, we will remove it, close it in place and

          7  if there is any remediation, we will take care of

          8  that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Is it the case

         10  that DDC does remediation and the scoping for most

         11  agencies, but there are some agencies that have

         12  their own apparatus that does that?

         13                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes, absolutely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, what

         15  agencies would sort of operate independently,

         16  because you seem to say that there are some

         17  agencies, or probably did say that there are

         18  agencies that operate sort of independently of your

         19  management structure for spill clean ups and that

         20  they do it themselves.

         21                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Well, we don't work

         22  with the agencies as far as, you know, the consent,

         23  when we get the consent from the City and we work on

         24  the sites that are given to us.  But, the issue is,

         25  is that, you know, because we are an agency that
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          2  deals with, you know, other agencies --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

          4                 MR. DOUGLASS:  -- And if, in fact,

          5  that, you know, say, take the Fire Department is

          6  doing a new building, a new firehouse, and on the

          7  property they understand they have an underground

          8  storage tank that they believe should be taken out

          9  properly or remediated, you know, they will contact

         10  us and see if we can help them out.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, they have

         12  their own, there are some agencies that their own

         13  sort of spill clean up apparatus or they reach out

         14  to contractors or it doesn't involve you or

         15  whatever.  What agencies would that be?

         16                 MR. DOUGLASS:  We have no information

         17  on that.

         18                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Well, it could be any

         19  agency, because DDC has the expertise, of course,

         20  and the resources to do this program.  But, if it's

         21  something minor or if --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         23                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- The agency can, so

         24  it --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But, this is
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          2  more than likely  --

          3                 MS. SAUNDERS:  --  Could be any

          4  agency  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.  But,

          6  this is more than likely these tanks that are kind

          7  of making their way into the system from new

          8  acquisitions and discounted stuff, right? It's not

          9  like the, what I keep referring to as sort of like

         10  the tanks that are in existence that were held by

         11  City agencies back in the  '80's that were subject

         12  to this 1998 deadline.  When we're talking about

         13  other agencies dealing with their tanks, this is

         14  really sort of like more new acquisitions and new

         15  tanks coming into the process here, right?

         16                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Right, or else, as I

         17  mentioned before, as the agencies, their needs

         18  change, they may decide that they want to close a

         19  tank, not necessarily because it's out of

         20  compliance.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         22                 MS. SAUNDERS:  But because they've

         23  decided that they don't, they no longer need it --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         25                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- Or they would like
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          2  to replace it with a larger tank.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Got it, got it.

          4    But, in terms of, we still have the same

          5  understanding that of those universe of tanks that

          6  existed in the  '80's, that had to get upgraded,

          7  they're like in a different class.

          8                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And the DDC is

         10  very involved in at anything that grew out of the

         11  1998 deadline and the tank replacement to meet, you

         12  know, EPA requirements.  That's fair to say?

         13                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's fair to say.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, fine.

         15  Council Member Stewart.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just

         17  wanted a little clarity on a couple of things that

         18  you, from the two testimonies that we have had.  On

         19  one testimony we have here from Mr. Douglass and you

         20  say there, you completed work on a total of 2,364

         21  tanks.

         22                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just want

         24  some clarity. But, in Ms. Saunders' testimony, you

         25  said that the City has approximately 800 tanks of
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          2  the 12 agencies.  I'm trying to get a feel as to the

          3  800 tanks and 2,364 tanks, there's a big difference

          4  there, at least three times more that you're

          5  speaking about.  Are you talking about tanks within

          6  the agencies, the 12 agencies that we, of the City?

          7                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And.

          9                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Well, initially, there

         10  were about 14 or 16 agencies.  But, some of these

         11  tanks, they closed a significant number of them, as

         12  Mr. Douglass will tell you and replaced, as I

         13  pointed out earlier, replaced a number of smaller

         14  tanks with large tanks and so he would be referring

         15  to the whole universe that they worked on.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Oh, so, what

         17  are you saying? You're talking about from since

         18  1994?  Your figures are from 1994.  When is your

         19  figures from?

         20                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Actually, the figures

         21  are from 1991, there was --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  1991?

         23                 MR. DOUGLASS:  Yeah, it was 24 sites

         24  and as it came over to DDC, we picked up more sites

         25  and, therefore,  it came up to the 2,364.  But, you
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          2  know, let me just say this, you know the reason why

          3  the universe may change a little bit is because we

          4  may go to a site that we figure has four tanks, and

          5  there may be eight tanks there, and those other four

          6  tanks may not have even been used by the agency

          7  because they were just sitting there and no one

          8  really knew that they were there.  We still have to

          9  take care of them.  We still have to make sure that

         10  we remove them properly.  We make sure that we

         11  remediate the site correctly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right,

         13  now, then, of that 800 tanks that we have in the 12

         14  agencies, approximately what percentage of the 800

         15  tanks can we definitely say is within compliance,

         16  EPA standards.

         17                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Well, as I said

         18  earlier, to the best of my knowledge, with respect

         19  to the tanks that the agencies have presented to the

         20  Law Department and has been disclosed to EPA, there

         21  are about the 25 tanks remaining that need this

         22  additional work and the 51 tanks on the compliance

         23  schedule that need this up, additional upgrade.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes, but

         25  what we're talking about here, the 51 tanks that
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          2  you're talking about, was the agreement was made

          3  back in 1994, wasn't it?

          4                 MS. SAUNDERS:  No, the 51 tanks are

          5  under the 2006 proposed consent decree schedule.

          6  These were tanks that had been upgraded.  I know

          7  this might be a bit confusing.  They have been

          8  upgraded under the 1994 order.  So, they were in --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Right.

         10                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- That initial

         11  subgroup of tanks. Then, later found, upon

         12  inspection, to have this malfunctioning cathodic

         13  protection system and they're added onto this 2006

         14  proposed consent decree for additional work, because

         15  the fact that though they were upgraded, they are

         16  presently malfunctioning.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So, that's

         18  the 51 that you're talking about.

         19                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's right.  And,

         20  with respect to the others that came up, that to the

         21  best of our knowledge, as presented to DDC, there

         22  those 25 tanks that are not in compliance.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Do you have

         24  any record as to, say, how many tanks do you remove

         25  or correct in each calendar year? Because what we're
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          2  looking at here, we have, you're talking about

          3  spending over $300 million, but that goes back to

          4  since 1994.  I would like to know what you do every

          5  year.  I don't want to be in a position whereby you

          6  just do it when there is an issue with the federal

          7  government or with the state.  I want to know what

          8  you're doing on a regular basis.

          9                 MS. SAUNDERS:  No, I don't think --

         10  well, let me explain.  Let me clarify.  The City

         11  started this aggressive tank program to include all

         12  the tanks.  But, as Mr. Douglass would be able to

         13  explain better, the process of removing and

         14  replacing a tank, it's, it's a long process and

         15  there are certain issues. For instance, that, if

         16  you're going to a City facility, if it's a police

         17  precinct or fire station, for example, there are

         18  also certain space constraints, so the work has to

         19  progress at a certain rate.

         20                 So, it's not that the City was

         21  ignoring them, but the tank program has been moving

         22  forward since 1991, as Mr. Douglass pointed out, and

         23  the amount of work that would be done in a calendar

         24  year, I don't know if he could say that that would

         25  be an average or an estimate, because it would
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          2  depend on so many different circumstances regarding,

          3  for instance, the location, the type of tank and

          4  whatever additional work would have to be done.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  But, Mr.

          6  Douglass, by extension, if you're starting since

          7  1991, all I'm asking, you knew that we had to

          8  correct these things.  We have to bring them within

          9  EPA standards from since 1991.  All I'm asking,

         10  basically, is that we have approximately, let's say,

         11  you say it's more than 800, let's say 1,400 tanks.

         12  All I'm looking at is that if you started since

         13  1991, within the last couple of years, I would like

         14  to know what replacement you have done, what,

         15  because it seems to me that there are too many tanks

         16  still not taken care of.

         17                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Twenty-five.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Well, you

         19  say 25 there, but when you look at the other

         20  figures, the map there, it doesn't look like it's

         21  25, it looks like a lot more.

         22                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Could you explain?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Because you

         24  said 800.

         25                 MS. SAUNDERS:  That's the --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  They spoke

          3  to you about only 51 more that need to be done, all

          4  right? And this changes every day, you said.

          5                 MS. SAUNDERS:  May I explain?  The

          6  800 figure refers to the number, approximate number

          7  of tanks that are in operation, owned or operated by

          8  the City, not tanks that are out of compliance.

          9  That's basically the approximate number coming down

         10  from the approximately 1,200 that was initially

         11  revealed to the, to DEC, and then they discovered

         12  additional tanks.  So, I realize it's a little

         13  confusing, but what I want to make clear is that the

         14  figure of 800 represents the tanks that the City

         15  agencies are currently using and operating, not

         16  tanks that are out of compliance.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So, you're

         18  saying they, you have from the federal government

         19  certification that they are within the EPA

         20  compliance?

         21                 MS. SAUNDERS:  The federal government

         22  didn't certify, it is up to the, the City's, the

         23  City agency's responsibility based on the upgrade.

         24  But, at this point, with respect to DDC's expertise,

         25  there isn't any reason to believe that the tanks
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          2  that DDC worked on would not be in compliance with

          3  the federal regulations --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yeah, but --

          5                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- Because that's what

          6  they do.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  -- A while

          8  ago you said that even some of these tanks that they

          9  tried to upgrade, they're still having problems.

         10                 MS. SAUNDERS:  No, what --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So, I just

         12  want to know that we have a way of detecting.  We

         13  don't want the federal government coming to inspect

         14  them, and after they inspect them, they see, oh,

         15  another there are 25 here, another 30 here that is

         16  not within  --

         17                 MS. SAUNDERS:  The 51 tanks were not

         18  determined to be out of compliance by EPA.  They

         19  were determined to be out of compliance by the City,

         20  when DDC contractors went out in the course of doing

         21  their course of cathodic protection inspections,

         22  which is something that the City will do

         23  periodically.  We self disclosed this to EPA.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  You did

         25  that?
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          2                 MS. SAUNDERS:  What I'd like to point

          3  out again as to the previous Councilman's analogy to

          4  a car, you know, when you take it in for servicing

          5   --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yeah.

          7                 MS. SAUNDERS:  -- And you find out

          8  that something needs to be repaired and it's

          9  repaired.  The reason why some of these tanks are

         10  being replaced is that the City believes, at this

         11  point, that they did perhaps a cost benefit analysis

         12  to determine, well, we should just replace them with

         13  new tanks. But, many of them could just be repaired,

         14  but it's our decision to actually replace them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And how long

         16  do you think it will take for us to replace them  --

         17                 MS. SAUNDERS:  We have --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  The 25?

         19                 MS. SAUNDERS:  Oh, the, no that's

         20  the, you're talking about, I'm sorry, I was talking

         21  about the 51.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Well, the

         23  51, you said they may not --

         24                 MS. SAUNDERS:  The 51 is the ones

         25  that just need repair or and that, but they will be
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          2  replaced for some of them. That is on the schedule

          3  going through to 2007.  Those other 25 ones will be

          4  done within a year's time, approximately.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And these

          6  figures that you're talking about, this does not

          7  include or talk about the private tanks?  This is

          8  only the City agencies you're talking about.

          9                 MS. SAUNDERS:  I'm only aware of the

         10  ones that are owned by the City.  I can't speak for

         11  anyone else.

         12                 MR. DOUGLASS:  And DDC wouldn't touch

         13  any private.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  No, but I

         15  would just like to know if there's anybody from the

         16  City that goes out and, when they do inspection, has

         17  to make sure that, you know our environment is being

         18  protected.

         19                 MR. DOUGLASS:  We're not an

         20  investigative agency. We are a management agency.

         21  If an agency comes to us and wants a tank replaced

         22  or remediation, we will put together a contact and

         23  get that taken care of.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you

         25  Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

          3  Council Member Stewart.  I just want to segway a

          4  little bit off what Council Member Stewart brought

          5  up, which would be inspections and surveys of

          6  privately owned tanks, which, of course, are not the

          7  domain of DDC, but I know that the fire department

          8  is in the business of doing some tank inspections.

          9  They have their own rules and protocols regarding

         10  tank owner/operators or whatever.  Perhaps, Mr.

         11  McCOOK, you could speak to what it is that the fire

         12  department does with respect to tank inspections and

         13  requirements and what universe of tanks the fire

         14  department would concern itself with.  I just ask

         15  you to state your name for the record and answer the

         16  question.

         17                 MR. McCOOK:  My name is John McCOOK,

         18  Chief Inspector, Bureau of Fire Prevention and one

         19  of my units is the bulk fuel safety unit that

         20  monitors the motor vehicle fuel tanks in the City.

         21  We have approximately 1,800 locations in the City

         22  for motor vehicle fuel.  We --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Gas stations,

         24  right?

         25                 MR. McCOOK:  Gas stations, private
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          2  fill also, like Fedex and post offices and also

          3  marinas.  We begin with plans coming from the

          4  Buildings Department.  Somebody installs a tank, we

          5  get the plans from the Buildings Department, we

          6  review them for compliance with state, City, state

          7  and federal regulations. Then the licensed

          8  contractor, person licensed by the fire department,

          9  will do the installation.  We witness all phases of

         10  the installation, including cathodic protection.  We

         11  test all the double hall probes, the leak detection

         12  systems and then, at the end, we issue a permit for,

         13  you know, completion of the tank that has been

         14  installed properly.  Besides that, we do, every two

         15  years, we test the leak detection equipment at every

         16  motor vehicle tank in the City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So, every two

         18  years, any sort of owner/operator of any gas station

         19  or other sort of private fueling facility can expect

         20  a visit  --

         21                 MR. McCOOK:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  -- From the

         23  fire department and you have the ability to test

         24  their leak detection, because, presumably, all of

         25  these tanks are meeting the new EPA guidelines?
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          2                 MR. McCOOK:  That's correct.  We test

          3  private and City tanks.  We test all the motor

          4  vehicle tanks in the City every two years.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see, and

          6  that's the schedule, it's pretty much worked out.

          7                 MR. McCOOK:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, I have a

          9  follow- up question to that.  How, if at all, does

         10  the state DEC currently share information regarding

         11  what underground storage tank releases in, that

         12  happen in New York City with the City, that would be

         13  either, I guess the fire department or any other

         14  entity in the City?  Is there information sharing

         15  that goes on between the DEC and the City with

         16  regard to tank releases, generally, whether public

         17  or private? Or is there any such information

         18  exchanged?

         19                 MR. McCOOK:  They don't contact us.

         20  We generally find the leak, we contact them.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         22                 MR. McCOOK:  We have a spill number,

         23  they have a statewide spill number.  We'll either

         24  have the owner/operator of the service station

         25  verify that he called it or we'll call it or refer
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          2  it to the state.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.  So,

          4  when you go to a site and you're testing, I guess,

          5  would that be like a tank tightness test or

          6  whatever, is that --

          7                 MR. McCOOK:  No, this, well, we've

          8  changed that. It used to be a tank test, tank

          9  tightness test, but now we test the leak detection

         10  equipment that protects the tank.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.

         12                 MR. McCOOK:  You know, when you have

         13  a double wall tank, you have a probe in the space in

         14  between the double wall -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, I see.

         16                 MR. McCOOK:  -- It would pick up a

         17  leak, we actually test that that probe is operating

         18  properly.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right. And so

         20  if it's not operating properly, that may mean or may

         21  not mean that there's actually a leak. It could just

         22  mean that the apparatus is not working. And if a

         23  leak were to happen, it wouldn't be picked up. It

         24  doesn't mean that there is a leak.

         25                 MR. McCOOK: That's correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But certainly

          3  makes people curious, though?

          4                 MR. McCOOK: What do you mean?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I mean make

          6  people curious if the leak detection apparatus is

          7  not working --

          8                 MR. McCOOK: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I guess by

         10  extention --

         11                 MR. McCOOK: Yes, there could be a

         12  leak. The person pulled the probe up so it doesn't

         13  hit the leak and the alarm doesn't go off.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. But would

         15  that commence any kind of investigation by DEC or

         16  anyone else?

         17                 MR. McCOOK: Only if we refer it to

         18  them.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see. So,

         20  you go out to a station, their leak detection thing

         21  is not working, what happens then?

         22                 MR. McCOOK: We issue a violation to

         23  repair and replace it.

         24                 At that point there is no leak, there

         25  is no evidence of any leak, we just say repair,
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          2  replace it properly.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.

          4                 How would one know if there sort of

          5  was a leak?

          6                 MR. McCOOK: Well, in the annual space

          7  we say there is no product in the probe.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see. Okay.

          9                 MR. McCOOK: The probe goes to the

         10  bottom of the tank, and there's nothing in that, no

         11  identification, no water, no gasoline, you know

         12  there's no leak.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.

         14                 MR. McCOOK: The probe isn't working

         15  properly.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. Right.

         17                 MR. McCOOK: You can take it out and

         18  actually test it and the product.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But it could be

         20  the case where you could go there, you find out that

         21  the leak detection thing is not working, there is

         22  product between wall number one and wall number two?

         23                 MR. McCOOK: Then we notify the State.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And then the

         25  State --
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          2                 MR. McCOOK: Then they will take care

          3  of the remediation.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          5                 Presumably tank owner/operators, like

          6  gas stations, I guess they know how much fuel

          7  they're buying and how much fuel they're selling; is

          8  it that kind of a --

          9                 MR. McCOOK: They have inventory

         10  records that are monitored by the State. The State

         11  is very aware of the inventory. The systems they

         12  have now automatically check the inventory.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. Oh, so

         14  it's less opportunity for hanky-panky so-to-speak,

         15  or, you know, because these are automated systems?

         16                 MR. McCOOK: Right, that's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That have to be

         18  calibrated appropriately and --

         19                 MR. McCOOK: Correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Fine. Okay.

         21                 Ken, go ahead.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes. Is there

         23  a system whereby that these stations that we have to

         24  maybe every three years get some sort of a

         25  certificate, just like you have public assembly
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          2  places, you must check the place every two or three

          3  years and get a certificate?

          4                 MR. McCOOK: Actually we check the

          5  service stations every year. There's an annual

          6  permit.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

          8                 MR. McCOOK: Operating permit. We have

          9  a district office that inspects each service station

         10  basically for the certificate of fitness,

         11  above-ground operations and add compressors, fire

         12  extinghishers. And then in two years we come in, an

         13  inspection order is issued every two years based on

         14  that permit. At the end of that permit, 90 days

         15  prior to that permit expiration, every two years we

         16  get an inspection order issued to test the leak

         17  detection system. So, it's an annual permit,

         18  above-ground and every two years under-ground

         19  testing.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         22  you, Council Member Stewart.

         23                 Just a few sort of close out

         24  questions, and then I'll, you know, thank you for

         25  your testimony.
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          2                 Of your 244 sites, which are

          3  currently being worked on by DDC, how often does DDC

          4  have to report to DEC on sort of progress with these

          5  remediations?

          6                 Presumably these are, because they're

          7  spills, and the after report?

          8                 MR. DOUGLASS: DEC holds a meeting

          9  quarterly. So, we meet with DEC. DDC and DEC meet

         10  quarterly at their headquarters and we update them

         11  on, you know, the spills and what we have been doing

         12  for the last three months.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. And just

         14  to clarify once again, the remediation of these 244

         15  sites are not the subject at all of this, you know,

         16  consent agreement from January '06. There's no

         17  connection between --

         18                 MS. SAUNDERS: That's correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. Okay.

         20  Does the City have an estimate as to what compliance

         21  with the proposed consent decree, meaning the '06

         22  one, will ultimately cost?

         23                 MS. SAUNDERS: At this point it will

         24  just be a very general estimate, with respect to the

         25  remote monitoring program, that's probably going to
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          2  cost us about, maybe in the ball park of $800,000.

          3  And with respect to any additional work, I really

          4  don't have any --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          6                 MS. SAUNDERS: And I must point out,

          7  that is as an environmental project. That is not

          8  required by the regulation, but we thought that it

          9  would be good to implement this sort of project to

         10  protect the City.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         12                 Does the City believe that it will

         13  need to hire more staff to comply with the proposed

         14  consent decree?

         15                 MS. SAUNDERS: Well, that is a

         16  question that each individual agency would have to

         17  answer, because with respect to the, unless DEC

         18  knows, has an answer to that with respect to their

         19  program, I know that they have their, procured their

         20  contractors already, so I'm not sure whether that

         21  would be an issue.

         22                 But each agency is charged with their

         23  compliance work, so they would have to know whether

         24  or not they would need additional staff.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.
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          2                 MS. SAUNDERS: I wouldn't know that.

          3                 MR. DOUGLASS: Right now the monies

          4  that we have, you know, for additional contracts, so

          5  that we can get this work completed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          7                 That will conclude the questions for

          8  this panel. But before you go, I just want to, Ms.

          9  Saunders, Mr. Douglass, Mr. McCook, just, you know,

         10  thank you for your work each and every day with

         11  regard to remediating the tanks, looking at the

         12  tanks, getting the spills cleaned up. You know, you

         13  do a great environmental service to the City, and

         14  we're very, very grateful for your service in this

         15  regard, and we thank you for spending so much time

         16  here today, and, you know, being so forthcoming with

         17  your testimony and we look forward to seeing you

         18  again.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 MR. McCOOK: Thank you.

         21                 MR. DOUGLASS: Thank you.

         22                 MS. SAUNDERS: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And before we

         24  gavel the hearing to close, for the record, there

         25  was a letter submitted by Commissioner Denise
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          2  Sheehan of the New York State Department of

          3  Environmental Conservation.

          4                 And with no other witnesses to be

          5  heard, this hearing is adjourned. Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 1:30 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 16th day of February 2006.
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         25                          CHERYL MILLER
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          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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